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In this circular, the following expressions shall have the following meanings unless the
context requires otherwise:

“1994 Notice” has the meaning ascribed to it under section headed
“Proposed Special Dividend”;

“2015 Audited Accounts” the audited accounts of the Company for the financial
year ended on 31 December 2015 approved by the
Shareholders, and prepared by using accounting
practices and principles consistently used by the
Company for the preparation of its accounts;

“Anglo Chinese” Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited, a licensed
corporation under the SFO, licensed to conduct Type 1
(dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities),
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the
SFO and the financial adviser to the Offeror in
relation to the Offer;

“Announcement” means the announcement of the Company dated 17
August 2016 relating to the proposed distribution of
the Special Dividend;

“Articles” means the articles of association of the Company
currently in force;

“Associates” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;

“Basic Offer Price” means HK$1.66 per Offer Share;

“Board” means the board of Directors of the Company;

“Business Day” means a day (other that Saturday or Sunday or a day
on which a black rainstorm warning or a typhoon
signal number 8 or above is hoisted in Hong Kong at
any time between 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.) on which
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange is open for the
transaction of business;

“Company” means 安徽天大石油管材股份有限公司 (Anhui Tianda
Oil Pipe Company Limited), a joint stock company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability, whose
H Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange;
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“Composite Document” means the composite document in relation to the
Offer which is to be issued within seven (7) days of
the Effective Transfer Date under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement which is expected to be in or
around 24 October 2016;

“Delisting Resolution” means the resolution to be considered, and if thought
fit, for Independent Shareholders at the General
Meeting and Independent H Shareholders at the H
Share Class Meeting to approve the delisting of H
Shares of the Company from the Stock Exchange,
subject to the offer period ending in respect of the
Offer;

“Director(s)” means the director(s) of the Company;

“Domestic Shares” means domestic share(s) of nominal value of RMB0.5
each in the share capital of the Company, which are
subscribed for or credited as fully paid up in RMB;

“Effective Transfer Date” means the date on which a new business license is
issued by the Administration for Industry and
Commerce showing the new distribution of
shareholding of the Company following the sale of
the Sale Shares by the Vendors pursuant to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement which currently expected to
be in or about 17 October 2016;

“Enhanced Offer Price” means HK$1.67 per Offer Share, payable if the
Delisting Resolution is approved;

“Excluded H Shareholder(s)” means the overseas H Shareholder(s), whose
address(es), as shown on the register of members of
the Company as at the latest practicable date for the
purpose of the Composite Document, is/are outside
Hong Kong and located in a jurisdiction the laws of
which prohibit the making of the Offer to such H
Shareholders or otherwise require the Offeror or the
Company to comply with additional requirements
which are (in the opinion of the Offeror Directors or
the Directors) unduly onerous or burdensome having
regard to the number of H Shareholders in that
jurisdiction and their shareholdings in the Company;

“Executive” means the Executive Director of the Corporate
Finance Division of the SFC or any of his delegates;
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“Gram Capital” or “IFA” means Gram Capital Limited, a licensed corporation
to carry out type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity under the SFO, and the
independent financial adviser to advise the
Independent Board Committee in connection with the
withdrawal of the listing of H Shares from the Stock
Exchange;

“Group” the Company together with its subsidiaries; of the
PRC;

“H Share Class Meeting” means the special general meeting of the Independent
H Shareholders to be convened on 7 October 2016 and
any adjournment thereof, for the purpose of
approving the withdrawal of the listing of the H
Shares from the Stock Exchange;

“H Shareholders” means registered holders for the time being of H
Shares;

“H Shares” means overseas listed foreign Shares of nominal value
RMB0.50 each in the capital of the Company which are
listed on the Stock Exchange and subscribed for in
Hong Kong dollars;

“HK$” means Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong;

“Hong Kong” means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region;

“Independent Board
Committee”

means the independent board committee comprising
of all the independent non-executive directors of the
Company, namely, Mr. Zhao Bin, Mr. Wang Bo and Mr.
Wang Jie, formed for the purpose of making a
recommendation (i) to the Independent H
Shareholders as to whether the terms of the Offer and
the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares from the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange are fair and reasonable,
and whether to vote in favour of the Delisting
Resolution in the H Share Class Meeting; and (ii) to
the Independent Shareholders as to whether the
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares from the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange is fair and reasonable, and
whether to vote in favour of the Delisting Resolution
in the SGM;
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“Independent H Shareholders” means H Shareholders other than the Offeror, Mr. Ye
Shiqu, the Vendors and their Associates and persons
acting in concert with the Offeror or Mr. Ye Shiqu and
the Vendors;

“Independent Shareholders means all Shareholders other than Mr Ye Shiqu, the
Offeror, the Vendors, their respective Associates and
parties acting in concert with Mr. Ye Shiqu and the
Vendors or the Offeror;

“Individual H Shareholders” has the meaning ascribed to it under the section
headed “Proposed Special Dividend”;

“Joint Announcement” means the announcement jointly published by the
Company together with the Offeror on 3 February
2016 in relation to, amongst other things, the Sale and
Purchase Agreement and the possible Offer pursuant
to Rule 3.5 of the Takeovers Code;

“Last Trading Day” means 29 January 2016, being the last full trading day
immediately prior to the suspension of trading in the
H Shares pending the release of the Joint
Announcement;

“Latest Practicable Date” means 7 September 2016, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this circular for
ascertaining information in this circular;

“Listing Rules” means the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange;

“Offer” means the unconditional mandatory cash offer made
by Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited, for and
on behalf of the Offeror, upon the Effective Transfer
Date for the Offer Shares (other than those H Shares
already owned by or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it at the
time when the Offer is made) at the Basic Offer Price
(if the Delisting Resolution is not approved) or the
Enhanced Offer Price (if the Delisting Resolution is
approved) in accordance with the Takeovers Code;

“Offer Period” means the period from 2 February 2016, being the date
of the Joint Announcement made pursuant to Rule 3.5
of the Takeovers Code to the closing date of the Offer;

“Offer Shareholder(s)” means holder(s) of the Offer Share(s), other than the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it;
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“Offer Shares” means the H Shares subject to the Offer;

“Offeror Director(s)” means director(s) of the Offeror;

“Offeror Group” means the Offeror Parent and its subsidiaries
(including the Offeror);

“Offeror Parent” means Vallourec SA, a company incorporated in
France whose shares are listed on Euronext Paris;

“Offeror Parent Management
Members”

means the members of the management board of the
Offeror Parent;

“Overseas Shareholder(s)” means the Offer Shareholder(s) whose address(es), as
shown on the register of members of the Company, is/
are outside Hong Kong;

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, which for the
purpose of this circular, excludes Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and
Taiwan;

“Purchaser” or the “Offeror” means Vallourec Tubes SAS, a company incorporated
in France, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Vallourec SA, a company incorporated in France
whose shares are listed on Euronext Paris;

“Record Date” means 18 October 2016, the date for determining the
entitlements of the Shareholders to the Special
Dividend;

“Registrar” means Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, with its registered address at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong;

“Relevant Period” means the period beginning 6 months prior to the
Offer Period and ending on the Latest Practicable
Date;

“RMB” means renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

“Sale and Purchase Agreement” means the sale and purchase agreement dated 29
January 2016 entered into between the Purchaser and
the Vendors pursuant to which the Vendors are to sell
the Sale Shares to the Purchaser;
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“Sale Shares” means 510,000,000 Domestic Shares to be sold by the
Vendors and to be purchased by the Purchaser
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, representing approximately
50.61% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as at the Latest Practicable Date;

“SFC” means the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong;

“SFO” means the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong);

“SGM” means the special general meeting of the Shareholders
of the Company to be convened and held on 7 October
2016 for the purpose of approving the proposed
amendment of Articles, the proposed distribution of
the Special Dividend, the proposed change of
Directors, and the proposed delisting of H Shares of
the Company from the Stock Exchange;

“Shareholders” means holder(s) of the Shares;

“Shareholders’ Agreement” means the shareholders’ agreement dated 15
September 2010 entered into in relation to the
Company between the Offeror, Tianda Holding,
Tianda Investment, Tiancheng Changyun
International Company Limited, Mr. Ye Shi Qu and
Mr. Zhang Hu Ming;

“Shares” means the Domestic Shares and the H Shares;

“Special Dividend” has the meaning ascribed to it under the section
headed “Proposed Special Dividend”;

“Stock Exchange” means The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

“Takeovers Code” means the Code on Takeovers and Mergers published
by the SFC;

“Tianda Holding” means Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company
Limited;

“Tianda Investment” means Anhui Tianda Investment Co., Ltd; and

“Vendors” means Tianda Holding and Tianda Investment.

For the purposes of this circular and illustration only, conversions of RMB into HK$ are
based on the approximate exchange rates of RMB1.0000 to HK$1.1711. No representation is made
that any amount in HK$ or RMB could have been or could be converted at the above rates or at any
other rates.
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10 September 2016

To the Shareholders,

Dear Sir or Madam,

(1) PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE ARTICLES;
(2) PROPOSED SPECIAL DIVIDEND;

(3) PROPOSED CHANGE OF DIRECTORS;
(4) PROPOSED WITHDRAWAL OF LISTING;

(5) NOTICE OF SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING;
AND

(6) NOTICE OF H SHARE CLASS MEETING

INTRODUCTION

References are made to the Joint Announcement dated 2 February 2016 and the
Company’s announcement dated 17 August 2016, in which the Board has recommended
the proposed amendment of Articles, the proposed distribution of the Special Dividend,
the proposed change of Directors, and the proposed withdrawal of listing of H Shares of
the Company from the Stock Exchange.
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This circular is to provide you with information regarding the above to allow you to
make an informed decision on voting in respect of the resolutions to be proposed at the
SGM and the resolution to be proposed at the H Share Class Meeting (as applicable).

THE OFFER

Principal terms of the Offer

Within 7 days after the Effective Transfer Date under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Offer will be made to acquire the Offer Shares on the following basis and
in accordance with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code. The total consideration per Offer
Share payable to H Shareholders under the Offer, if and when made, in the different
scenarios is summarised below:

Total consideration payable per
Offer Share in different scenarios
If the Delisting

Resolution is
not approved

If the Delisting
Resolution is

approved

Offer HK$1.66 HK$1.67

The Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 for each Offer Share (payable if the Delisting
Resolution is not approved) is the same as the purchase price that shall be paid for each
Sale Share by the Offeror pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The Enhanced
Offer Price of HK$1.67 for each Offer Share (payable if the Delisting Resolution is
approved and the offer document or Composite Document (as the case may be) is
despatched) is a HK$0.01 premium to the purchase price that shall be paid for each Sale
Share by the Offeror pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

The Offeror ’s preferred outcome following the completion of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the Offer is for the Company to be privatised and delisted and the Basic
Offer Price is considered to represent an appropriate premium available to H Shareholders
for these purposes. The Enhanced Offer Price provides an additional incentive for
Independent Shareholders to approve the delisting resolution.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had 497,626,000 H Shares in issue.
There are no outstanding options, warrants, derivatives or convertible securities which
may confer any rights to the holder(s) thereof to subscribe for, convert or exchange into
Shares.

The Offer will be unconditional in all respects and will not be conditional upon
acceptances being received in respect of a minimum number of Offer Shares or any other
conditions.

The Offer Shares to be acquired under the Offer shall be fully paid, free from all
encumbrances and with all rights and benefits at any time accruing and attached to them,
including the rights to receive all dividends and distributions declared, made or paid on
or after the date on which the Offer is made, i.e., the date of the Composite Document.
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The procedures for acceptance and further details of the Offer will be set out in the
Composite Document.

Comparisons of value

Before taking into account of any adjustment to the quoted prices for the Special
Dividend, the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced Offer Price represent:

(a) a premium of approximately 58% and 59% over the closing price of HK$1.05
per H Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 29 January 2016, being the
Last Trading Day;

(b) a premium of approximately 58% and 59% over the average closing price of
the H Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 5 consecutive full
trading days immediately prior and including the Last Trading Day, being
approximately HK$1.05 per H Share;

(c) a premium of approximately 48% and 49% over the average closing price of
the H Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 30 consecutive full
trading days immediately prior and including the Last Trading Day, being
approximately HK$1.12 per H Share;

(d) a premium of approximately 34% and 35% over the average closing price of
the H Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 60 consecutive full
trading days immediately prior and including the Last Trading Day, being
approximately HK$1.24 per H Share;

(e) a premium of approximately 28% over the average closing price of the H
Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 90 consecutive full trading
days immediately prior and including the Last Trading Day, being
approximately HK$1.30 per H Share;

(f) a premium of approximately 19% and 20% over the average closing price of
the H Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 180 consecutive full
trading days immediately prior and including the Last Trading Day, being
approximately HK$1.39 per H Share; and

(g) a discount of approximately 23% to the unaudited net asset value per Share as
at 30 June 2016 (Note: Based on the 2016 interim results of the Company and
calculated at the RMB/HK$ exchange rate of 1.1711 as at 2 August 2016).

On 17 August 2016, the Board proposed the distribution of the Special Dividend.
Further details are set out in the “Proposed Special Dividend” section to this circular.

Effect of accepting the Offer

By accepting the Offer, the Offer Shareholders will sell their Offer Shares free from
all encumbrances and with all rights and benefits at any time accruing and attached to
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them, including the rights to receive all dividends and distributions declared, made or
paid on or after the date on which the Offer is made, i.e., the date of the Composite
Document (but excluding the Special Dividend). Offer Shareholders should note that

acceptance of the Offer will not have impact on their entitlement to the Special

Dividend. Shareholders will be entitled to the Special Dividend if they appeared as the

registered Shareholders as at the Record Date.

Save for the Special Dividend, from the date of the Joint Announcement up to the
Latest Practicable Date, there was no dividend or distribution declared, paid or made by
the Company.

Overseas Shareholders

The Offer may not be made to the Excluded H Shareholders, subject to the prior
consent of the Executive. An application will be made in advance before the Composite
Document is despatched to the H Shareholders, to the Executive under Note 3 to Rule 8 of
the Takeovers Code for consent if any Excluded H Shareholder has then been identified.

As the Offer to persons not resident in Hong Kong may be affected by the laws of the
relevant jurisdictions in which they are resident, Overseas Shareholders who are citizens,
residents or nationals of a jurisdiction outside Hong Kong should observe any applicable
legal or regulatory requirements and, where necessary, seek legal advice. It is the
responsibility of Overseas Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer to satisfy themselves
as to the full observance of the laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdictions in
connection with the acceptance of the Offer (including but not limited to the obtaining of
any governmental, exchange control or other consents and any registration of filing which
may be required or the compliance with other necessary formalities, regulatory and/or
legal requirement and the payment of any transfer or other taxes due in respect of such
jurisdiction).

Acceptance of the Offer by any Overseas Shareholder will be deemed to

constitute a representation and a warranty by such person that such person is permitted

under all applicable laws and regulations to receive and accept the Offer, and any

revision thereof, and such acceptance shall be valid and binding in accordance with all

applicable laws and regulations. Any such person is recommended to seek professional

advice on deciding whether or not to accept the Offer.

The Offer is a possibility only. The Effective Transfer Date under the Sale and

Purchase Agreement is conditional upon the fulfilment or waiver (where applicable) of

certain conditions under the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Offer will only be

made if the Effective Transfer Date takes place. Accordingly, the Sale and Purchase

Agreement may or may not be completed and the Offer may or may not proceed.

Shareholders and potential investors are therefore advised to exercise caution when

dealing in the securities of the Company.
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INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR

The Offeror is a company incorporated in France and is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Offeror Parent, being Vallourec SA, a French limited liability company which is
listed on Euronext Paris. The Offeror Group is a leading provider of premium tubular
solutions, primarily for the energy markets and other industrial application. The Offeror
Group has two main activities: (i) seamless tubes; and (ii) speciality products; it also has
holding, sales and marketing companies.

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

The Company is a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability and its H Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The principal
business activities of the Group are the designing, developing, manufacturing and selling
of seamless steel pipes for oil and natural gas exploration, transmission and refining, as
well as other seamless steel pipes for boilers and vessels and petrochemical machinery
accessories.

REASONS FOR THE ACQUISITION AND THE OFFER AND INTENTIONS OF THE
OFFEROR REGARDING THE GROUP

The Offeror Group is a manufacturer of steel tubes and pipes and a provider of
tubing solutions that serves the energy and industrial sectors. The Offeror considers the
principal business of the Company to be a strategic fit with the business of the Offeror
Group. Building on a successful long-term partnership with the Company, the Offeror
intends to leverage the Company’s technologically-advanced industrial assets and low
cost pipes to develop a more competitive product offering for the enlarged Offeror Group,
in particular by exploiting synergies that will exist between the Offeror Group and the
Group following the Offeror becoming the majority owner of the Company. The Offeror
considers the Offer to be in its and the Company’s long-term commercial interest.

The Offeror is currently reviewing the overall businesses of the Group and will keep
the Shareholders and investors informed by further announcement if it makes any
decision which requires disclosure pursuant to the Takeovers Code. Except as otherwise
described in the Joint Announcement and this circular, the Offeror, having had regard to
the current general business conditions relevant to the Group and the Offeror Group does
not intend to introduce any major changes to the existing business and operations of the
Group following the end of the Offer period in respect of the Offer. The Offeror will
continue to ensure good corporate governance, monitor and review the Group’s business
and operations from time to time, and may take steps that it deems necessary or
appropriate to optimise the value of the Group.

Any restructuring, if it materialises, will be conducted in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Company will make further
announcement(s) in compliance with the Listing Rules as and when required. Save as in
connection with the Offeror ’s intention regarding the Group as set out above and the
proposed board changes as mentioned in this circular, the Offeror has no plan to terminate
the employment of employees or other personnel of the Group.
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STAMP DUTY

Ad valorem stamp duty arising in connection with acceptance of the Offer
amounting to 0.1% of the amount payable in respect of the relevant acceptance or, if
higher, the value of the Offer Shares as determined by the Collector of Stamp Revenue
under the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Chapter 117 of the Laws of Hong Kong) is payable by
those accepting H Shareholders which will be deducted from the payment to be received
by them. The Offeror will bear its own portion of buyer ’s ad valorem stamp duty under
the Offer at the rate of 0.1% of the amount payable in respect of relevant acceptances or, if
higher, the value of the Offer Shares as determined by the Collector of Stamp Revenue
under the Stamp Duty Ordinance (Chapter 117 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and will be
responsible to account to the Stamp Office of Hong Kong for the stamp duty payable for
the sale and purchase of the relevant Offer Shares pursuant to the acceptances of the Offer.

PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE ARTICLES

The Board proposes to amend the Articles in order to reflect the changes in the
shareholding structure of the Domestic Shares upon the Effective Transfer Date pursuant
to the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

Details of the proposed amendments to the Article are set out in Appendix II.

As confirmed by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, the contents of the proposed
amendments to the Articles comply with the relevant laws, rules and regulations such as
the PRC Company Law and the Mandatory Provisions, and also the provisions stipulated
under the Articles of the Company currently in force. The proposed amendments to the
Articles mentioned above shall be subject to approval of the Shareholders by way of
special resolution at the SGM and to approval by, and registration with, the relevant
government or regulatory authorities in the PRC.

Shareholders should be aware that the Articles have been adopted in Chinese only
and no official translation is available. The English text of the Articles (or the proposed
amendments thereof) as stated in this circular (together with the accompanying notice) is
only an unofficial translation prepared for reference only. The Chinese version of the
Articles shall prevail in case of any discrepancy in the translation and/or any
inconsistency between the two versions.

PROPOSED SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Offeror and the Vendors have agreed in the Sale and Purchase Agreement to
procure that the Company distributes a special dividend prior to the Effective Transfer
Date. The special dividend shall be:

(a) if the net profit after tax result of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2015 (as appearing in the 2015 Audited Accounts) is positive or
equal to RMB0, an amount determined by the Board which does not exceed
the maximum amount of distributable (under applicable laws) and
undistributed retained profits of the Company as appearing in the 2015
Audited Accounts minus RMB15,000,000; or
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(b) if the net profit after tax result of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2015 (as appearing in the 2015 Audited Accounts) is negative, an
amount determined by the Board which does not exceed the maximum
amount of distributable (under applicable laws) and undistributed retained
profits of the Company as appearing in the 2015 Audited Accounts.

According to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015, the net profit after tax results for the year ended
31 December 2015 was a negative figure.

According to the Articles, an ordinary resolution will be proposed at the SGM to
approve the Company’s profit distribution plan for the period 1 January 2015 to 31
December 2015.

For the 12 months ended 31 December 2015, the Board has proposed a special
dividend of RMB0.301459 per Share (inclusive of tax) and RMB303,758,000 in aggregate
(inclusive of tax) (the “Special Dividend”). Such Special Dividends will be paid to
holders of the Domestic Shares in RMB and to H Shareholders in Hong Kong dollars. The
actual amount of Special Dividend payable to H Shareholders in Hong Kong dollars will
be calculated according to the average closing exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong
dollars as published by the People’s Bank of China for one calendar week preceding the
date of the SGM. If the aforesaid profit distribution proposal is approved by the
Shareholders at the SGM, the Special Dividend will be paid to the holders of Domestic
Shares and H Shareholders on or about 28 October 2016 whose names appear on the
register of members for Domestic Shares and H Shares of the Company at the close of
business on 18 October 2016.

In order to determine the holders of Shares who are entitled to the Special Dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 27 September 2016 to 7
October 2016 (both days inclusive). To be eligible to receive the Special Dividend (subject
to the approval of the Shareholders), all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s H Share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 26
September 2016.

Taxation

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and its implementation rules
and other relevant rules, where the Company distributes the proposed Special Dividend
for the 12 months ended 31 December 2015 to non-resident enterprise Shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members for H Shares of the Company as at the Record
Date, it is required to withhold corporate income tax at the rate of 10%. Any H Shares
registered in the name of non-individual registered Shareholders, including HKSCC
Nominees Limited, other nominees or trustees, or other organisations or groups, will be
treated as Shares being held by non-resident enterprise Shareholders, and consequently
will be subject to the withholding of the corporate income tax.
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Pursuant to the PRC Individual Income Tax Law, the Implementation Regulations of
the Individual Income Tax Law, the Tentative Measures on Withholding and Payment of
Individual Income Tax and other relevant laws and regulations, the foreign individuals
who are the H Shareholders shall pay individual income tax at a tax rate of 20% upon their
receipt of distribution of dividend from domestic enterprises which issued such H shares,
which shall be withheld and paid by such domestic enterprises on behalf of such
individual H shareholders. However, the Notice of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Certain Policies Regarding Individual Income Tax effective
from 13 May 1994 (the “1994 Notice”) grants exemption to foreign individuals from PRC
individual income tax on dividend from foreign-invested enterprises. Since the Company
is a “foreign-invested enterprise” as approved by the relevant PRC authorities, the
individual Shareholders who hold the Company’s H Shares and whose names appear on
the register of members of H Shares of the Company (the “Individual H Shareholders”)
are not required to pay PRC individual income tax when the Company distributes the
proposed Special Dividend for the 12 months ended 31 December 2015 based on the 1994
Notice. Therefore, the Company will not withhold any amount of such Special Dividend
to be distributed to the Individual H Shareholders to pay the PRC individual income tax.

The Company assumes no responsibility and disclaims all liabilities whatsoever in
relation to the tax status or tax treatment of the H Shareholders and for any claims arising
from any delay in or inaccurate determination of the tax status or tax treatment of the H
Shareholders or any disputes over the withholding mechanism or arrangements.
Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisors regarding the ownership and
disposal of H Shares of the Company in the PRC and in Hong Kong and other tax effects.

PROPOSED CHANGE OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISOR

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the Offeror will appoint new
Directors to the Board. In addition, Mr. Ye Shiqu intends to resign as the Company’s
Chairman and Executive Director with effect from the date immediately following the
closing date of the Offer; and Mr. Liu Peng also intends to resign as the Company’s
non-executive Director and the member of each of the audit committee, remuneration
committee, and nomination committee of the Company, all with effect from the date
immediately following the closing date of the Offer. The Company will make further
announcement in accordance with the Listing Rules when Mr. Ye Shiqu and Mr. Liu Peng
tender their respective resignations.

Further, Mr. Bruno Saintes also intends to resign as the Company’s non-executive
Director and Mr. Huang Yaoqi also intends to resign as the Company’s supervisor both
with effect from the closing date of the Offer.

The Board proposed to, subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the SGM, appoint (i)
Mr. Bogdan Codrut Burchil as the Chairman and Executive Director in replacement of Mr.
Ye Shiqu; and (ii) Mr. Pascal Gustave Ulysse Braquehais as the Company’s non-executive
Director and the member of the audit committee, remuneration committee, and
nomination committee of the Company in replacement of Mr. Liu Peng; (iii) Mr. Edouard
Frederic Guinotte as the Company’s non-executive Director in replacement of Mr. Bruno
Saintes; and (iv) Mr. Jean-Pierre Michel as the Company’s supervisor in replacement of
Mr. Huang Yaoqi. The biographic details of the proposed new Directors are set out in
Appendix I.
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Subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the SGM, it is proposed that the term of
office for each of the new Directors is three years commencing on the date immediately
following the closing date for the Offer.

The emolument to such Directors proposed to be elected will be determined by the
Board with reference to their respective duties and level of responsibilities in the
Company, the Company’s performance and the prevailing market condition.

PROPOSED WITHDRAWAL OF LISTING

On 29 January 2016, the Offeror entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with
the Vendors, pursuant to which the Offeror has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the Sale Shares for cash consideration of
HK$846,600,000, equivalent to HK$1.66 per Sale Share. Upon the Effective Transfer Date,
the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it will own 706,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 70.07% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this circular (which comprises 510,000,000 Domestic Shares representing 50.61% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company, and 196,000,000 H Shares representing 19.46%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company, as at the date of this circular). In
accordance with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, upon the Effective Transfer Date, the
Offeror will be required to make the Offer for all the issued H Shares (other than those H
Shares already owned by or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it at the time when the Offer is made) at either the Basic Offer Price (assuming
the Delisting Resolution is not approved) or the Enhanced Offer Price (payable if the
Delisting Resolution is approved) per H Share which is subject to the Offer. The
Composite Document will be published setting out further details of the Offer.

In the event that the Effective Transfer Date takes place and the Delisting Resolution
is approved, the Company will make an application for the listing of the H Shares to be
withdrawn from the Stock Exchange in accordance with Rule 6.12 of the Listing Rules. H
Shareholders will be notified by way of an announcement of the date of the last day of
dealing in the H Shares and the date on which the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares
from the Stock Exchange will become effective.

The Stock Exchange has stated that if, at the close of the Offer, less than the
minimum prescribed percentage applicable to the Company, being 25% of the issued H
shares, are held by the public, or if the Stock Exchange believes that:

(a) a false market exists or may exist in the trading of the H Shares; or

(b) that there are insufficient H Shares in public hands to maintain an orderly
market;

it will consider exercising its discretion to suspend dealings in the H Shares.

In the event that the Delisting Resolution is not approved, the Offeror and the
Company intend the Company to maintain listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
after the close of the Offer. In the event that the Delisting Resolution is not approved and
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the public float of the Company falls below 25% of the Company’s total number of issued
H Shares following the close of the Offer, the Directors and the new Directors to be
appointed to the Board with effect from the closing date for the Offer, will jointly and
severally undertake to the Stock Exchange to take appropriate steps to ensure that a
sufficient public float exists for the H Shares following the close of the Offer.

The withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is conditional
upon the following:

(a) the passing of a resolution by the Independent Shareholders approving the
voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange
at the SGM;

(b) the passing of a resolution by the Independent H Shareholders approving the
voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange
at the H Share Class Meeting to be convened for this purpose, provided that:

(i) approval is given by at least 75% of the votes attaching to the H Shares
held by the Independent H Shareholders that are cast either in person or
by proxy (by way of poll); and

(ii) the number of votes cast (by way of poll) against the resolution is not
more than 10% of the votes attaching to all the H Shares held by the
Independent H Shareholders; and

(c) the Effective Transfer Date taking place;

(d) the Offer being made; and

(e) the occurrence of the end of the offer period in respect of the Offer.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement is not conditional on the Independent
Shareholders, at the SGM, or Independent H Shareholders, at the H Share Class Meeting,
approving the withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares on the Stock Exchange.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, (i) other than the Offeror, the Vendors, and their respective
Associates and persons acting in concert with the Offeror and the Vendors in the case of
the Delisting Resolution, no Shareholder has a material interest in the resolutions to be
proposed at the SGM and is required to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to be
proposed at the SGM; and (ii) other than the Offeror, the Vendors, and their respective
Associates and persons acting in concert with the Offeror and the Vendors, no other H
Shareholder has a material interest in the Delisting Resolution to be proposed at the H
Share Class Meeting and is required to abstain from voting on the Delisting Resolution to
be proposed at the H Share Class Meeting.

Gram Capital has been appointed with the approval of the Independent Board
Committee as the IFA to advise the Independent Board Committee in respect of the
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD

– 16 –



Reasons and Benefits of the Proposed Withdrawal of Listing

If the H Shares are delisted from the Stock Exchange, the H Shares will become
securities that are not listed or quoted on any stock exchange. Given the recent low
trading volume of the H Shares, the Directors believe that the Company’s ability to raise
funds from the public equity market in Hong Kong is currently limited and any significant
improvement in this regard in the foreseeable future is unlikely. Consequently, the
Directors consider that the costs and management resources associated with the
maintenance of the Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange, which are needed in order
to access the public equity capital market in Hong Kong, are no longer warranted.

As the H Shares are illiquid, the disposal of large block of H Shares held by the H
Shareholders in the open market may trigger price slump of the H Shares. For this reason,
there is no guarantee that Independent H Shareholders will be able to realise their
investments in the H Shares (especially those with relatively sizeable shareholdings) at a
price which is substantially higher than the Basic Offer Price or the Enhanced Offer Price
and the Directors consider that the Offer provides an exit alternative for the Independent
H Shareholders who would like to realise their investments in the H Shares.

Furthermore, the Enhanced Offer Price offers H Shareholders an incentive to
approve the Delisting Resolution. If the Delisting Resolution is approved (and the offer
document is subsequently despatched), all holders of Offer Shares will be entitled to the
Enhanced Offer Price.

In light of the above, the Directors consider that the proposed withdrawal of listing
of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Offeror has no rights under the laws of the PRC and the articles of association
of the Company to compulsorily acquire the H Shares that are not tendered for
acceptance pursuant to the Offer. Accordingly, Independent H Shareholders are
reminded that if they do not accept the Offer and the H Shares are delisted from the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, this will result in the Independent H Shareholders holding
unlisted H Shares and the liquidity of the H Shares may be severely reduced. In
addition, the Company will not continue to be subject to the Listing Rules and may not
continue to be subject to the Takeovers Code after the completion of the Offer
depending on whether it remains as a public company in Hong Kong and the rights of
Independent H Shareholders to certain information of the Company will be reduced. If
the Delisting Resolution is approved, the Offeror will notify all H Shareholders who
have not accepted the Offer before the closing date of the Offer about (i) the closing
date of the Offer, and (ii) the implication if they decided not to accept the Offer.

If the Effective Transfer Date does not take place, the amendments to the Articles
will not become effective. Further, if the Effective Transfer Date does not take place and
the offer period does not end in respect of the Offer, the appointment of the new
Directors and the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares will not become effective.
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INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23 May 2016. The
independent board committee of the Company (the “IBC”) was established on 23 May
2016 comprising Mr. Zhao Bin, Mr. Wang Bo and Mr. Wang Jie, all being independent
non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 2.8 of the Takeovers Code to advise the
Independent H Shareholders in respect of the Offer and the Delisting Resolution and the
Independent Shareholders in respect of the Delisting Resolution. The Board notes that
under Rule 2.8 of the Takeovers Code, an independent board committee established for
this purpose should comprise all non-executive Directors who have no direct or indirect
interest in the Offer. As Mr. Liu Peng (“Mr. Liu”) a non-executive Director, is the nephew
of Mr. Ye Shi Qu, the executive Director and Chairman of the Company and a director and
a ultimate beneficial owner of the Vendors; Mr. Bruno Saintes (“Mr. Saintes”), a
non-executive Director, is currently the Internal Control and Risk Management Director of
Vallourec, each are considered to have a material interest in the Offer. Accordingly, Mr. Liu
and Mr. Saintes are not offered membership of the IBC.

ECOMMENDATION

The Directors recommend that all Shareholders vote in favour of the proposed
Special Dividend distribution plan, namely, the proposed distribution of a Special
Dividend of RMB0.301459 per Share (inclusive of tax) and RMB303,758,000 in aggregate
(inclusive of tax) for the 12 months ended 31 December 2015, and to further authorise the
Board to take necessary actions for the implementation of such plan in accordance with
relevant applicable laws and regulations.

The Directors also recommend that all Shareholders to vote in favour of the
proposed amendment of Articles, and the proposed change of Directors, and that all
Independent Shareholders and all the Independent H Shareholders to vote in favor of the
proposed delisting of H Shares of the Company from the Stock Exchange.

EXPECTED TIMETABLE

The expected timetable in relation to the Offer and the proposed withdrawal of
listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is set out below. Shareholders should note
that the timetable is indicative only and subject to change depending on the approval of
the PRC governmental authority filings in connection with the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and the confirmation of the SFC and the Stock Exchange that they have no
further comment on the Composite Document. The Company will notify the Shareholders
on any change to the expected timetable as and when appropriate.

Latest time for lodging transfers of the Shares in order to be
entitled to attend and vote at the H Share Class Meeting
and the SGM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4:30 p.m. on
26 September 2016
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Closure of the register of the Company for the
determination of entitlements of the Independent
H Shareholders to attend and vote at the
H Share Class Meeting and the SGM. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

27 September 2016
to 7 October 2016

(both days
inclusive)

Last day for return of reply slip for the H Share Class
Meeting and the SGM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 October 2016

Latest time for lodging proxy form in respect of the H Share
Class Meeting and the SGM . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

2:00 pm on
6 October 2016

Date of the H Share Class Meeting and the SGM1 . . . . . . . . . . . 7 October 2016

Announcement of the results of the H Share Class Meeting
and the SGM on the website of the Stock Exchange . . . . . . .

by 7:00 p.m. on
7 October 2016

Last day of dealings in H Shares on
a cum-entitlement basis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 October 2016

First day of dealings in H Shares on
an ex-entitlement basis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 October 2016

Latest time for lodging transfers of the Shares in order to be
entitled to the Special Dividend . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4:30 p.m. on
13 October 2016

Closure of the register of the Company for the determination
of entitlements of the holders of Shares to the Special
Dividend . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

14 October 2016 to
18 October 2016

(both days
inclusive)

Estimated Effective Transfer Date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28 October 2016

Estimated day of dispatching the Composite Document . . . . . 1 November 2016

Estimated opening date of the Offer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 November 2016

Estimated latest time and date for acceptance of the Offer
(assuming the Delisting Resolution has been approved and
the Effective Transfer Date has taken place)2 . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4:00 p.m. on
29 November 2016

Estimated closing date of the Offer
(assuming the Delisting Resolution has been approved and
the Effective Transfer Date has taken place)2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 November 2016
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Announcement of the results of the Offer
to be posted on the Stock Exchange website
(assuming the Delisting Resolution has been approved and
the Effective Transfer Date has taken place)2 . . . . . . . . . . . . .

at or before
7:00 p.m. on

29 November 2016

Last day of dealing in the H Shares
on the Stock Exchange (assuming the Delisting Resolution
has been approved and the Effective Transfer Date has
taken place) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 November 2016

Withdrawal day of the listing of H Shares
from the Stock Exchange (assuming the Delisting
Resolution has been approved and
the Effective Transfer Date has taken place) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

4:00 p.m. on
6 December 2016

Latest date for posting of remittances for the amounts due
under the Offer in respect of valid acceptances of the Offer
on the closing date of the Offer (assuming the Delisting
Resolution has been approved and the Effective Transfer
Date has taken place)3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 December 2016

Notes:

1. The SGM is to be held at 2:00 p.m and the H Share Class Meeting is to be held immediately after
the SGM on the same date.

2. In the event that the Delisting Resolution has not been approved, the date of the relevant events
will be changed to 22 November 2016.

3. In the event that the Delisting Resolution has not been approved, the date of the relevant event
will be changed to 1 December 2016.

4. All references in the above expected timetable to times and dates are references to Hong Kong
times and dates.

SGM AND H SHARE CLASS MEETING

The SGM will be convened to approve (i) the proposed distribution of Special
Dividend and the proposed change of Directors by ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders; and (ii) the proposed amendment of Articles by special resolution of the
Shareholders; and (iii) the proposed withdrawal of listing of the H Shares of the Company
from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange by special resolution of the Independent
Shareholders. The H Share Class Meeting will be convened to approve the withdrawal of
listing of the H Shares of the Company from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The SGM is
to be held at 2:00 p.m. on 7 October 2016 at the registered office of the Company at
Zhenxing Road, Tongcheng Town, Tiancheng City, Anhui Province, the PRC. The H Share
Class Meeting is to be held immediately after the SGM on the same date and at the same
place.

The notice of the SGM is set out on pages 118 to 120 of this circular.
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According to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, the voting on the resolution at the
SGM will be taken by way of poll.

A notice of the H Share Class Meeting is set out on pages 121 to 122 of this circular.
The Offeror, the Vendors Mr. Ye Shi Qu, their respective Associates and the parties acting
in concert with the Offeror, the Vendors or Mr. Ye Shi Qu will abstain from voting at the
SGM and the H Share Class Meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

BOOK CLOSED PERIOD

The register of members of the H Shares will be closed from 27 September 2016 to 7
October 2016 (both days inclusive) in accordance with the Articles. During such period, no
transfer of H Shares will be registered. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the SGM, H
Shareholders whose transfers have not been registered must deposit their instruments of
transfer together with the relevant share certificates at the Company’s H Share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on 26 September 2016.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the
information contained in this circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and
not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this circular misleading.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board

Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited
Ye Shi Qu
Chairman
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Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited
安徽天大石油管材股份有限公司

(a joint stock company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 839)

10 September 2016

To the Independent Shareholders and the Independent H Shareholders

Dear Sirs or Madams,

PROPOSED WITHDRAWAL OF LISTING OF H SHARES

We refer to the circular dated 10 September 2016 issued by the Company (the “Circular”)
of which this letter forms part. Terms defined in the Circular shall have the same meanings
in this letter unless the context otherwise requires.

We have been appointed as members of the Independent Board Committee to make a
recommendation to the Independent H Shareholders in respect of the Offer and the
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares. Gram Capital has been appointed as the IFA to
advise us as to whether the terms of the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares are fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent H Shareholders are concerned and whether the
Independent H Shareholders should accept the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares.

Having considered the terms of the Offer and the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares and
taken into account the advice of Gram Capital, in particular, the factors, reasons and
recommendation set out in the “Letter from Gram Capital” on pages 23 to 40 of the
Circular, we consider that the terms of the Offer and the withdrawal of listing of the H
Shares are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders and the
Independent H Shareholders (as applicable) are concerned.

On this basis, we recommend (i) the Independent Shareholders to vote in favour of the
resolution in approving the withdrawal of listing of the H Shares at the SGM; and (ii) the
Independent H Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolution in approving the
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares at the H Share Class Meeting.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of

Independent Board Committee
Mr. Zhao Bin Mr. Wang Bo Mr. Wang Jie

Independent non-executive
Director

Independent non-executive
Director

Independent non-executive
Director
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Set out below is the text of a letter received from Gram Capital, the IFA to the Independent
Board Committee in respect of the proposed Withdrawal of Listing for the purpose of inclusion in
this circular.

Room 1209, 12/F.
Nan Fung Tower
88 Connaught Road Central/
173 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

10 September 2016

To: The Independent Board Committee of
Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited

Dear Sirs,

PROPOSED WITHDRAWAL OF LISTING

INTRODUCTION

We refer to our appointment as the IFA to advise the Independent Board Committee
in respect of the proposed withdrawal of the listing of H Shares from the Stock Exchange
(the “Withdrawal of Listing”), details of which are set out in the letter from the Board (the
“Board Letter”) contained in the circular dated 10 September 2016 issued by the Company
to the Shareholders (the “Circular”) of which this letter forms part. Terms used in this
letter shall have the same meanings as defined in the Circular unless the context requires
otherwise.

On 29 January 2016, the Offeror entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with
the Vendors, pursuant to which the Offeror has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the Sale Shares for cash consideration of
HK$846,600,000, equivalent to HK$1.66 per Sale Share. Upon the Effective Transfer Date,
the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it will own 706,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 70.07% of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date. In accordance with Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, upon the Effective
Transfer Date, the Offeror will be required to make the Offer for all the issued H Shares
(other than those H Shares already owned by or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and
parties acting in concert with it at the time when the Offer is made) at either the Basic
Offer Price (assuming the Delisting Resolution is not approved) of HK$1.66 per H Share
which is subject to the Offer or the Enhanced Offer Price (payable if the Delisting
Resolution is approved) of HK$1.67 per H Share which is subject to the Offer.

On 4 August 2016, the Company and the Offeror jointly announced that the
Enhanced Offer Price would be payable in respect of each H Share which is subject to the
Offer, if the Delisting Resolution is approved. The Enhanced Offer Price represents a
premium of HK$0.01 to the Basic Offer Price (the “Delisting Incentive”).
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In the event that the Effective Transfer Date takes place and the Delisting Resolution
is not approved, (i) the Company will not make application for the listing of H Shares to be
withdrawn from the Stock Exchange; and (ii) the Offeror will be required to make the
Offer and the Independent H Shareholders who accept the Offer will only be entitled to
the Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 per H Share.

In the event that the Effective Transfer Date takes place and the Delisting Resolution
is approved, the Company will make an application for the listing of H Shares to be
withdrawn from the Stock Exchange in accordance with Rule 6.12 of the Listing Rules. H
Shareholders will be notified by way of an announcement of the date of the last day of
dealing in the H Shares and on which the withdrawal of listing from the Stock Exchange
will become effective. The Offeror will be required to make the Offer and the Independent
H Shareholders who accept the Offer will be entitled to the Enhanced Offer Price of
HK$1.67 per H Share.

The withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is conditional
on, amongst others, the Effective Transfer Date taking place and the Offer being made. In
the event that the Effective Transfer Date does not take place, the Offer will not be made
and the listing of H Shares will not be withdrawn from the Stock Exchange regardless of
whether the Delisting Resolution is approved or not.

The Independent Board Committee comprising Mr. Zhao Bin, Mr. Wang Bo and Mr.
Wang Jie (all being independent non-executive Directors) has been formed to advise the
Independent H Shareholders and the Independent Shareholders on whether the
Withdrawal of Listing is fair and reasonable and whether to vote in favour of such
resolution. With reference to the Board Letter, as Mr. Liu Peng (“Mr. Liu”), a
non-executive Director, is the nephew of Mr. Ye Shi Qu, the executive Director and
Chairman of the Company and a director and an ultimate beneficial owner of the Vendors;
and Mr. Bruno Saintes (“Mr. Saintes”), a non-executive Director, is currently the Internal
Control and Risk Management Director of the Offeror Group, each of them are considered
to have a material interest in the Offer. Accordingly, Mr. Liu and Mr. Saintes are not
included in the Independent Board Committee. We, Gram Capital Limited, have been
appointed as the IFA to advise the Independent Board Committee in this respect, and our
opinion herein is solely for the assistance of the Independent Board Committee in
connection with its consideration of the Withdrawal of Listing. The appointment of Gram
Capital as the IFA has been approved by the Independent Board Committee.

INDEPENDENCE

During the past two years immediately preceding the Latest Practicable Date, Mr.
Graham Lam was the person signing off the opinion letter from the independent financial
adviser contained in the circular dated 24 December 2014 in respect of the continuing
connected transactions for the Company. Notwithstanding the aforesaid past engagement,
as at the Latest Practicable Date, we were not aware of any relationships or interests
between Gram Capital and the Company, the Offeror or any other parties that could be
reasonably regarded as a hindrance to Gram Capital’s independence to act as the IFA to
the Independent Board Committee.
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Besides, apart from the advisory fee and expenses payable to us in connection with
our appointment as the IFA to the Independent Board Committee, no arrangement exists
whereby we shall receive any other fees or benefits from the Company.

BASIS OF OUR OPINION

In formulating our opinion to the Independent Board Committee, we have relied on
the statements, information, opinions and representations contained or referred to in the
Circular and the information and representations as provided to us by the Directors. We
have assumed that all information and representations that have been provided by the
Directors, for which they are solely and wholly responsible, are true and accurate at the
time when they were made and continue to be so as at the Latest Practicable Date, and
should there be any material changes to our opinion after the Latest Practicable Date,
Shareholders would be notified as soon as possible. We have also assumed that all
statements of belief, opinion, expectation and intention made by the Directors in the
Circular were reasonably made after due enquiry and careful consideration. We have no
reason to suspect that any material facts or information have been withheld or to doubt
the truth, accuracy and completeness of the information and facts contained in the
Circular, or the reasonableness of the opinions expressed by the Company, its advisers
and/or the Directors, which have been provided to us. Our opinion is based on the
Directors’ representation and confirmation that there are no undisclosed private
agreements/arrangements or implied understanding with anyone concerning the
Withdrawal of Listing. We consider that we have taken sufficient and necessary steps on
which to form a reasonable basis and an informed view for our opinion in compliance with
Rule 13.80 of the Listing Rules and Rule 2 of the Takeovers Code.

The Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of
information contained in the Circular (other than that in relation to the Offeror Group)
and the directors of the Offeror jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of information contained in the Circular (other than that in relation to the
Group), and each confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge, opinions expressed in the Circular (for which they take responsibility) have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in the Circular, the omission of which would make any statements contained in
the Circular misleading. We, as the IFA, take no responsibility for the contents of any part
of the Circular, save and except for this letter of advice.

The directors of the Offeror and the Offeror Parent Management members jointly
and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in
the Circular (other than that relating to the Group) and confirm, having made all
reasonable inquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in the
Circular (other than those expressed by the Group, the Directors and Gram Capital) have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no facts not contained in
the Circular, the omission of which would make any statement in the Circular misleading.
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We consider that we have been provided with sufficient information to reach an
informed view and to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. We have not, however,
conducted any independent in-depth investigation into the business and affairs of the
Company, the Offeror or their respective subsidiaries or associates, nor have we
considered the taxation implication on the Group or the Shareholders as a result of the
Withdrawal of Listing. Our opinion is necessarily based on the financial, economic,
market and other conditions in effect and the information made available to us as at the
Latest Practicable Date. In addition, nothing contained in this letter should be construed
as a recommendation to hold, sell or buy any Shares or any other securities of the
Company. The Independent H Shareholders will be notified of any material changes as
soon as possible in accordance with Rule 9.1 of the Takeovers Code.

Lastly, where information in this letter has been extracted from published or
otherwise publicly available sources, it is the responsibility of Gram Capital to ensure that
such information has been correctly extracted from the relevant sources while we are not
obligated to conduct any independent in-depth investigation into the accuracy and
completeness of those information.

PRINCIPAL FACTORS AND REASONS CONSIDERED

In arriving at our opinion in respect of the Withdrawal of Listing, we have taken into
consideration the following principal factors and reasons:

(1) Background and terms of the Withdrawal of Listing

On 29 January 2016, the Offeror entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement
with the Vendors, pursuant to which the Offeror has conditionally agreed to
purchase and the Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the Sale Shares for cash
consideration of HK$846,600,000, equivalent to HK$1.66 per Sale Share. Upon the
Effective Transfer Date, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it will own
706,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 70.07% of the entire issued share
capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date. In accordance with Rule
26.1 of the Takeovers Code, upon the Effective Transfer Date, the Offeror will be
required to make the Offer for all the issued H Shares (other than those H Shares
already owned by or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it at the time when the Offer is made) at either the Basic Offer Price
(assuming the Delisting Resolution is not approved) of HK$1.66 per H Share which
is subject to the Offer or the Enhanced Offer Price (payable if the Delisting
Resolution is approved) of HK$1.67 per H Share which is subject to the Offer.

In the event that the Effective Transfer Date takes place and the Delisting
Resolution is approved, the Company will make an application for the listing of H
Shares to be withdrawn from the Stock Exchange in accordance with Rule 6.12 of the
Listing Rules. H Shareholders will be notified by way of an announcement of the
date of the last day of dealing in the H Shares and on which the withdrawal of listing
from the Stock Exchange will become effective.
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The withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is
conditional upon the following:

(a) the passing of a resolution by the Independent Shareholders approving
the voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from the Stock
Exchange at the SGM;

(b) the passing of a resolution by the Independent H Shareholders
approving the voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from
the Stock Exchange at the H Share Class Meeting to be convened for this
purpose, provided that:

(i) approval is given by at least 75% of the votes attaching to the H
Shares held by the Independent H Shareholders that are cast
either in person or by proxy (by way of poll); and

(ii) the number of votes cast (by way of poll) against the resolution is
not more than 10% of the votes attaching to all the H Shares held
by the Independent H Shareholders;

(c) the Effective Transfer Date taking place;

(d) the Offer being made; and

(e) the occurrence of the end of the offer period in respect of the Offer.

The Sale and Purchase Agreement is not conditional on, the Independent
Shareholders at the SGM or Independent H Shareholders at the H Share Class
Meeting, approving the withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares on the Stock
Exchange.

(2) Financial information on the Group

The principal business activities of the Group are designing, developing,
manufacturing and selling of seamless steel pipes for oil and natural gas
exploration, transmission and refining, as well as other seamless steel pipes for
boilers and vessels and petrochemical machinery accessories.
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Set out below is the consolidated financial results of the Group for the two
years ended 31 December 2015 and the six months ended 30 June 2016 (with
comparative figures) as extracted from the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (the “2015 Annual Report”) and the Company’s interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2016 (the “2016 Interim

Results”) respectively:

For the
year ended

31 December
2015

For the
year ended

31 December
2014

Year on
year change

RMB’000 RMB’000 %
(audited) (audited)

Revenue 2,032,445 2,881,955 (29.48)
Gross profit 85,916 246,431 (65.14)
Profit/(Loss) for the year (19,050) 57,779 N/A

For the
six months

ended
30 June 2016

For the
six months

ended
30 June 2015

Year on
year change

RMB’000 RMB’000 %
(unaudited) (unaudited)

Revenue 766,402 1,085,988 (29.43)
Gross profit 20,322 67,194 (69.76)
Profit/(Loss) for the period (69,351) 14,629 N/A

As depicted from the above table, the Group recorded a significant decrease in
revenue of approximately 29.48% for the year ended 31 December 2015 (“FY2015”)
as compared to the year ended 31 December 2014 (“FY2014”). The Group also
recorded substantial decrease in gross profit from FY2014 to FY2015 and net loss for
FY2015 as compared to net profit for FY2014. With reference to the 2015 Annual
Report and as confirmed by the Directors, the decrease in revenue was mainly
attributable to certain factors including the imbalance of market supply and
demand, the fierce market competition and the decrease in average pricing of raw
material steel. The average selling price per tonne of products of the Company
decreased from approximately RMB4,239 in FY2014 to approximately RMB3,355 in
FY2015, representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% and the sales volumes
decreased from 679,790 tonnes in FY2014 to 605,830 tonnes in FY2015, representing a
decrease of approximately 10.9%.
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According to the 2015 Annual Report and as confirmed by the Directors, the
decrease in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly due to: (1) the
competition being fiercer as a result of the decrease in market demand. Despite the
Group’s active adjustments of product and customer base structures, the sales
volume was still adversely influenced by the change in demand which led to a
double-digit decrease; (2) the market selling price of products decreased to a greater
extent than the decline in market cost of raw materials. The Group recorded net loss
for FY2015 was mainly due to the decrease in the Group’s gross profit as a result of
the decrease in market demand as mentioned above.

With reference to the 2015 Annual Report, the Group takes advantages to
strengthen its cost management and risk control and adopts the differential business
strategy (i.e. the Group provides customized services to its customers to meet their
different requirements) and premium business strategy (i.e. the Group focus on the
seamless steel pipe which have product specifications for oil and gas transmission)
which highlights the characteristics and advantage of the Group’s various products.
In addition, the Group also optimises the adjustment of the product mix and
customer base structures.

As depicted from the above table, the Group recorded further loss for the six
months ended 30 June 2016. The gross profit and gross profit margin for the six
months ended 30 June 2016 were also decreased as compared to the corresponding
period in 2015. According to the 2016 Interim Results, such decrease was mainly due
to the fact that under the circumstances where the macro-economy is gloomy, the
demand in the specialized pipe industry was weak and the competition is fierce, the
decrease in market selling price to a greater extent than the decrease in raw
materials cost.

China Steel Construction Society (“CSCS”) was established in June 1984 by
scientists, engineering experts and enterpriser and, is a national industrial
professional organisation under the supervision of State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission of the State Council of the PRC. According to the
2015年度全國性社會組織評估等級結果公示 (Results of Assessment and Rating on
National Social Organization in the PRC (2015)*) as published by the Ministry of
Civil Affairs of the PRC, CSCS was rated AAAA among the national industrial
organisation in the PRC in 2015. We noted that Mr. Li Qiang, being the chairman (理
事長) of Steel Pipe Branch Association of China Steel Construction Society, reported
at a member session on 25 April 2016 (the “Report”) that the output and
performance consumption of seamless steel pipes has been experiencing
year-on-year decrement since 2014. As indicated by historical data of the output and
consumption of seamless steel pipes in PRC, the output and consumption of
seamless steel pipes in PRC reached its peak in 2013 with year-on-year increase of
13.69% and 16.92% respectively; year-on-year decrease of 2.21% and 3.18%
respectively in 2014; and year-on-year decrease of 6.70% and 5.32% respectively in
2015.
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As mentioned in the Report, the followings are the key factors which lower
the output of seamless steel pipes:

(i) the decline in crude oil price since 2014 led to decrease in investment to
domestic and international oil and gas industries; slowdown in oil and
gas exploration and development; and decreasing trend in the
consumption of oil pipes and pipelines;

(ii) the sluggish growth of domestic and overseas economy; and

(iii) the weak demand of related downstream industries.

In light of the aforementioned background of CSCS, we consider the Report to
be a reasonable source of reference.

In addition, we noted that the average selling price of the Company’s
products decreased from approximately RMB5,457 per tonne in the first quarter of
2011 to approximately RMB2,920 per tonne in the fourth quarter of 2015. With
reference to the 2016 Interim Results, the average selling price of the Company’s
products in the first half of 2016 was decreased by approximately 13.8% as
compared to the first half of 2015. Having also considered that the revenue of the
Group has been in a general decreasing trend since 2011, we consider that it is
uncertain as to whether the financial performance of the Group will improve in
future.

(3) Information on the Offeror

With reference to the Joint Announcement, the Offeror is a company
incorporated in France and is wholly-owned by Vallourec SA, a French limited
liability company which is listed on Euronext Paris. The Offeror Group is a leading
provider of premium tubular solutions, primarily for the energy markets and other
industrial application. The Offeror Group has two main activities: (i) seamless
tubes; and (ii) specialty products, it also has holding, sales and marketing
companies.
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(4) Intention of the Offeror regarding the Group

With reference to the Board Letter, building on a successful long-term
partnership with the Company, the Offeror intends to leverage the Company’s
technologically-advanced industrial assets and low cost pipes to develop a more
competitive product offering for the enlarged Offeror Group, in particular by
exploiting synergies that will exist between the Offeror Group and the Group
following the Offeror becoming the majority owner of the Company by combining
the Offeror Group’s proprietary technology with the Group’s cost competitive pipes
(the “Intended Actions”). The Offeror considers the Offer to be in its and the
Company’s long-term commercial interest. Nevertheless, Independent H
Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer should bear in mind that they will not
enjoy such commercial interest (if any) after they accept the Offer.

We consider the above-mentioned intention of the Offeror to be beneficial to
the Group. Nevertheless, we cannot foresee the effect of the Intended Actions on the
Group’s future financial performance. Given also the unsatisfactory financial
performance of the Group and the unfavourable market conditions as demonstrated
under the section headed “(2) Financial information on the Group” above, it is also
doubtful as to whether the Intended Actions can improve the financial performance
of the Group in foreseeable future.

The Offeror is currently reviewing the overall businesses of the Group and
will keep the Shareholders and investors informed by further announcement if it
makes any decision which requires disclosure pursuant to the Takeovers Code.
Except as otherwise described in the Joint Announcement and the Circular (i.e. the
Intended Actions), the Offeror, having had regard to the current general business
conditions relevant to the Group and the Offeror Group does not intend to introduce
any major changes to the existing business and operations of the Group following
the end of the offer period in respect of the Offer. The Offeror will continue to ensure
good corporate governance, monitor and review the Group’s business and
operations from time to time, and may take steps that it deems necessary or
appropriate to optimise the value of the Group.

Any restructuring, if it materialises, will be conducted in accordance with all
applicable laws, rules and regulations and the Company will make further
announcement(s) in compliance with the Listing Rules as and when required. Save
as in connection with the Offeror ’s intention regarding the Group as set out above
and the proposed Board changes as set out under the section headed “Proposed
change of Directors and supervisor” in the Board Letter, the Offeror has no plan to
terminate the employment of employees or other personnel of the Group.
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With reference to the Joint Announcement, the Offeror proposes to delist the
Company from the Stock Exchange and accordingly the Company has agreed to
convene: (i) the SGM for the purpose of Independent Shareholders to consider and
vote on the Delisting Resolution (among other business); and (ii) the H Share Class
Meeting for the purpose of Independent H Shareholders to consider and vote on the
Delisting Resolution.

The Delisting Resolution at both the SGM and the H Share Class Meeting is
conditional upon the Effective Transfer Date occurring and the Offer being made
and, if approved, it will not become effective until the end of the offer period in
respect of the Offer.

(5) Reasons and benefits of the proposed Withdrawal of Listing

With reference to the Board Letter, if the H Shares were delisted from the Stock
Exchange, the H Shares will become securities that are not listed or quoted on any
stock exchange. Given the recent low trading volume of the H Shares (the thin
trading liquidity of the H Shares is also demonstrated under the section headed
“Historical trading liquidity of the H Shares” of this letter), the Directors believe
that the Company’s ability to raise funds from the public equity market in Hong
Kong (the “Fund Raising Ability”) is currently limited and any significant
improvement in the Fund Raising Ability in the foreseeable future is unlikely.
Consequently, the Directors consider that the costs and management resources
associated with the maintenance of the Company’s listing on the Stock Exchange,
which are needed in order to access the public equity capital market in Hong Kong,
are no longer warranted. In this regard, we have searched over the public
announcement made by the Company on the website of the Stock Exchange and
confirmed with the Directors that the Company has not taken advantage of the Stock
Exchange platform to conduct any equity fund raising activity since the completion
of a subscription of new H Shares on 1 April 2011.

As the H Shares are illiquid, the disposal of a large block of H Shares held by
an H Shareholder in the open market may trigger a price slump of the H Shares. For
this reason, there is no guarantee that Independent H Shareholders will be able to
realise their investments in the H Shares (especially those with relatively sizeable
shareholdings) at a price which is substantially higher than the Basic Offer Price or
the Enhanced Offer Price and the Directors (excluding the members of the
Independent Board Committee) consider that the Offer provides an exit alternative
for the Independent H Shareholders who would like to realise their investment in
the H Shares.

Furthermore, the Enhanced Offer Price offers Independent H Shareholders a
cash incentive to approve and the Effective Transfer Date occurs, the Delisting
Resolution, as, if the Delisting Resolution is approved, the Delisting Incentive will
be payable in respect of the Offer. If the Delisting Resolution is approved (and the
offer document is subsequently despatched), all holders of Offer Shares will, upon
accepting the Offer, be entitled to the Enhanced Offer Price (i.e. the Delisting
Incentive, in addition to the Basic Offer Price).
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With reference to the Board Letter, the Offeror ’s preferred outcome following
the completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Offer is for the
Company to be privatised and delisted and the Basic Offer Price is considered to
represent an appropriate premium available to H Shareholders for these purposes.
The Enhanced Offer Price provides an additional incentive for Independent
Shareholders to approve the Delisting Resolution.

With reference to the Board Letter, (i) the Sale and Purchase Agreement is not
conditional on the Independent Shareholders, at the SGM, or Independent H
Shareholders, at the H Share Class Meeting, approving the withdrawal of the listing
of the H Shares on the Stock Exchange; and (ii) the Offer will be made if the Effective
Transfer Date takes place. Accordingly, the approval of the Delisting Resolution will
have no impact on whether or not the Offer will be made. Nevertheless, if the
Delisting Resolution is not approved, the Independent H Shareholders who accept
the Offer will only be entitled to the Basic Offer Price.

Having considered that,

(i) the terms of the Offer (including the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced
Offer Price) are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent H
Shareholders are concerned as illustrated in the latter part of this letter;

(ii) the Offer provides an exit alternative with a fair and reasonable Basic
Offer Price as illustrated in the section headed “(6) The offer price”
below for the Independent H Shareholders who would like to realise
their investment in the H Shares;

(iii) the listing status of the H Shares will have no value to the Independent
Shareholders/Independent H Shareholders who opt to accept the Offer;
and

(iv) the Enhanced Offer Price offers Independent H Shareholders a cash
incentive (on top of the fair and reasonable Basic Offer Price) to approve
the Delisting Resolution, as, if the Delisting Resolution is approved and
the Effective Transfer Date occurs, the Delisting Incentive will be
payable in respect of the Offer,

we concur with the Directors’ view that the proposed withdrawal of listing of the H
Shares from the Stock Exchange is fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Nevertheless, those Independent Shareholders/Independent H Shareholders
who (after considering the financial information as described under the section
headed “Financial information on the Group” of this letter and our view that it is
uncertain as to whether the financial performance of the Group will improve in the
future) are still optimistic about the future financial performance of the Group may,
having regard to their own circumstances, consider retaining all or any part of their
H Shares (the “Retaining Shareholders”). In the event that the Retaining
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Shareholders do not accept the Offer and the H Shares are delisted from the Stock
Exchange, (i) this will result in the Retaining Shareholders holding unlisted H
Shares and the liquidity of the H Shares may be severely reduced; and (ii) the
Company will not continue to be subject to the Listing Rules and may not continue
to be subject to the Takeovers Code after the completion of the Offer depending on
whether it remains as a public company in Hong Kong and the rights of the
Retaining Shareholders to certain information of the Company will be reduced.

The expected timetable in relation to the Offer and the proposed
withdrawal of listing of the H Shares from the Stock Exchange is set out under the
section headed “Expected timetable” of the Board Letter. We noted that there will
be a time gap between the date of the SGM and the opening date of the Offer (the
“Gap Period”). The Independent H Shareholders should note that unforeseen
events or circumstances (e.g. substantial increase in price level of the H Shares or
the substantial improvement in the Group’s operational performance) may arise
during the Gap Period which may impact the fairness and reasonableness of the
terms of the Offer at the time when the Offer is available to the Independent H
Shareholders. The Independent H Shareholders should (i) bear the aforesaid risk
in mind when casting their vote on the Delisting Resolution at the SGM; and (ii)
take appropriate action in respect of the Offer which they think fit (e.g. accept the
Offer, dispose their H Shares in the open market or keep their investment in the
Company) after considering the information to be contained in the Composite
Document (including the letter from independent financial adviser).

(6) The offer price

The Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 per Offer Share and the Enhanced Offer Price
of HK$1.67 per Offer Share represent:

(a) a discount of approximately 9% to the closing price of HK$1.83 per H
Share as quoted from Bloomberg as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(b) a premium of approximately 58% and 59% respectively over the closing
price of HK$1.05 per H Share as quoted from Bloomberg on 29 January
2016, being the last full trading day prior to the suspension of trading in
the H Shares on 1 February 2016;

(c) a premium of approximately 58% and 59% respectively over the average
closing price of the H Shares as quoted from Bloomberg for the last 5
consecutive full trading days prior to the suspension of trading in the H
Shares on 1 February 2016, being approximately HK$1.05 per H Share;

(d) a premium of approximately 48% and 49% respectively over the average
closing price of the H Shares as quoted from Bloomberg for the last 30
consecutive full trading days prior to the suspension of trading in the H
Shares on 1 February 2016, being approximately HK$1.12 per H Share;

(e) a premium of approximately 34% and 35% respectively over the average
closing price of the H Shares as quoted from Bloomberg for the last 60
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consecutive full trading days prior to the suspension of trading in the H
Shares on 1 February 2016, being approximately HK$1.24 per H Share;

(f) a premium of approximately 28% over the average closing price of the H
Shares as quoted from Bloomberg for the last 90 consecutive full trading
days prior to the 7 suspension of trading in the H Shares on 1 February
2016, being approximately HK$1.30 per H Share;

(g) a premium of approximately 19% and 20% respectively over the average
closing price of the H Shares as quoted from Bloomberg for the last 180
consecutive full trading days prior to the suspension of trading in the H
Shares on 1 February 2016, being approximately HK$1.39 per H Share;
and

(h) a discount of approximately 23% to the unaudited net asset value per
Share as at 30 June 2016 (the “NAV Discount”).

Historical price performance of the H Shares

Set out below is a chart showing the movement of the daily closing price
of the H Shares and Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) as quoted from Bloomberg from
2 February 2015, being approximately one year prior to the date of
commencement of Offer Period, up to and including the Latest Practicable
Date (the “Review Period”):

Historical daily closing price per H Share, the HSI Index and Basic Offer Price
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Note: Trading in the H Shares was suspended from 1 February 2016 to 2 February 2016
(both dates inclusive).

During the Review Period, the lowest and highest closing prices of the
H Shares as quoted from Bloomberg were HK$1.02 per H Share recorded on 26

LETTER FROM GRAM CAPITAL

– 35 –



January 2016 and HK$1.87 per H Share recorded on 5 June 2015. The closing
prices per H Share during the Review Period were below the net asset value
per Share of RMB2.06 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.42) as at 30 June
2015, RMB1.91 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.24) as at 31 December 2015
and RMB1.84 (equivalent to approximately HK$2.16) as at 30 June 2016. As
illustrated in the above diagram, the Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 and
Enhanced Offer Price of HK$1.67 are within the historical price range during
the Review Period. We consider that each of the Basic Offer Price and the
Enhanced Offer Price is not exceptional as compared to the historical closing
prices of H Shares during the Review Period.

We also noted that the closing prices of the H Shares moved in a general
increasing trend from February 2015 to April 2015. The closing prices of the H
Shares then surged substantially from April 2015 and reached its peak of
HK$1.87 per H Share on 5 June 2015. After the closing price of the H Shares
reached its peak of HK$1.87 per H Share on 5 June 2015, the closing price of
the H Shares then decreased substantially during the remaining period of June
2015 and beginning of July 2015. The closing price of the H Shares then
fluctuated within a range from HK$1.02 to HK$1.49 from 3 July 2015 to 29
January 2016, being the last trading day before the publication of the Joint
Announcement (the “Last Trading Day”). As confirmed by the Directors, the
Directors were not aware of any reason/event which caused the aforesaid
movements of the closing price per H Share. As shown by the above chart, the
movement of the daily closing price of the H Shares was generally in line with
the movement of the HSI during the period from 3 February 2015 to the Last
Trading Day.

After the publication of the Joint Announcement on 2 February 2016, the
closing price of the H Shares surged from HK$1.05 on 29 January 2016 to
HK$1.67 on 3 February 2016, representing a significant upsurge of
approximately 59.05% (the “Upsurge”). As advised by the Directors, they are
of the view that the upsurge of the closing price of the H Shares was mainly
attributable to the positive market reaction to the Offer. Since 3 February 2016,
being the first trading day after the publication of the Joint Announcement,
the closing price of the H Shares has been moving close to the Basic Offer
Price/Enhanced Offer Price. In light of the above, we wish to highlight to the
Independent H Shareholders that the sustainability of the increased price
level is uncertain. As also shown by the above chart, save for the Upsurge, the
movement of the daily closing price of the H Shares was generally in line with
the movement of the HSI during the period from 3 February 2016 to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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In conclusion, both of the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced Offer Price
represent premium to the closing price of the H Shares during the most recent
period prior to and including the Last Trading Day (i.e. 3 July 2015 to 29
January 2016). Should there be no Offer and publication of the Joint
Announcement, the closing price of the H Shares might not be recovered to a
level close to the Basic Offer Price/Enhanced Offer Price after 3 February
2016.

Historical trading liquidity of the H Shares

The number of trading days, the average daily number of the H Shares
traded per month (the “Average Volume”), and the respective percentages of
the Average Volume as compared to the total number of issued H Shares as at
the Latest Practicable Date during the Review Period are tabulated as below:

Month

No. of trading
days in

each month
The Average

Volume

% of the
Average

Volume to
total number

of issued
H Shares

as at Latest
Practicable

Date
in Shares (Note 1)

%

2015
February 17 117,000 0.02
March 22 683,727 0.14
April 19 1,295,664 0.26
May 19 867,105 0.17
June 22 1,088,668 0.22
July 22 975,455 0.20
August 21 769,340 0.15
September 20 396,100 0.08
October 20 193,970 0.04
November 21 214,505 0.04
December 22 249,769 0.05

LETTER FROM GRAM CAPITAL

– 37 –



Month

No. of trading
days in

each month
The Average

Volume

% of the
Average

Volume to
total number

of issued
H Shares

as at Latest
Practicable

Date
in Shares (Note 1)

%

2016
January 20 190,800 0.04
February (Note 2) 16 8,537,665 1.72
March 21 1,426,281 0.29
April 20 730,241 0.15
May 21 872,285 0.18
June 21 261,050 0.05
July 20 799,220 0.16
August 22 2,062,308 0.41
September (up to and

including the Latest
Practicable Date) 5 1,594,000 0.32

Maximum 1.72
Minimum 0.02
Average 0.23

Source: Bloomberg

Note:

1. The total number of issued H Shares was 497,626,000 as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

2. Trading in H Shares was suspended from 1 February 2016 to 2 February 2016.

We noted from the above table that trading volume in the H Shares had
been thin (the Average Volume to total number of issued H Shares as at Latest
Practicable Date was below 2.0%) during each month of the Review Period.
The Average Volume to total number of issued H Shares as at Latest
Practicable Date was relatively high in February 2016 as compared to the rest
of the months in the Review Period. This may be caused by the market
reaction to the publication of the Joint Announcement. Excluding February
2016, the Average Volume to total number of issued H Shares as at Latest
Practicable Date was below 0.5% during each month of the Review Period. As
the H Shares are illiquid, the disposal of a large block of H Shares held by a H
Shareholder in the open market may trigger a price slump of the H Shares. For
this reason, there is no guarantee that Independent H Shareholders will be

LETTER FROM GRAM CAPITAL

– 38 –



able to realise their investments in the H Shares (especially those with
relatively sizeable shareholdings) at a price which is substantially higher than
the Basic Offer Price or the Enhanced Offer Price and we consider that the
Offer provides an exit alternative for the Independent H Shareholders who
would like to realise their investments in the H Shares.

RECOMMENDATION

Having considered the principal factors and reasons as discussed above, in
particular:

(i) the financial information as described under the section headed “Financial
information on the Group” of this letter and we consider that it is uncertain as
to whether the financial performance of the Group will improve in the future;

(ii) the Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 and the Enhanced Offer Price of HK$1.67 are
within the historical price range during the Review Period;

(iii) the Basic Offer Price of HK$1.66 and the Enhanced Offer Price of HK$1.67
represented a premium over (a) the closing price on the last full trading day
prior to the suspension of trading in the H Shares on 1 February 2016; and (b)
the average closing price of the H Shares for the last 5, 30, 60, 90 and 180
consecutive full trading days respectively prior to the suspension of trading in
the H Shares on 1 February 2016;

(iv) both of the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced Offer Price represent premium
to the closing price of the H Shares during the most recent period prior to and
including the Last Trading Day (i.e. 3 July 2015 to 29 January 2016). Should
there be no Offer and publication of the Joint Announcement, the closing price
of the H Shares might not be recovered to a level close to the Basic Offer
Price/Enhanced Offer Price after 3 February 2016;

(v) the NAV Discount is acceptable as the closing prices per H Share during the
Review Period were below the net asset value per Share of RMB2.06
(equivalent to approximately HK$2.42) as at 30 June 2015, RMB1.91
(equivalent to approximately HK$2.24) as at 31 December 2015 and RMB1.84
(equivalent to approximately HK$2.16) as at 30 June 2016;

(vi) the sustainability of the increased price level after the publication of the Joint
Announcement is uncertain; and

(vii) the H Shares are illiquid, the disposal of large block of H Shares held by a H
Shareholder in the open market may trigger a price slump of the H Shares,

we consider that the terms of the Offer (including the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced
Offer Price) are fair and reasonable so far as the Independent H Shareholders are
concerned and the Offer provides an exit alternative for the Independent H Shareholders
who would like to realise their investments in the H Shares.
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With reference to the Joint Announcement, the Offeror proposes to delist the
Company from the Stock Exchange and accordingly the Company has agreed to convene:
(i) the SGM for the purpose of Shareholders to consider and vote on the Delisting
Resolution (among other business); and (ii) the H Share Class Meeting for the purpose of
Independent H Shareholders to consider and vote on the Delisting Resolution. The
Delisting Resolution at both the SGM and the H Share Class Meeting is conditional upon
the Effective Transfer Date occurring and the Offer being made and, if approved, it will
not become effective until the end of the offer period in respect of the Offer.

Having considered (i) that the Delisting Resolution at both the SGM and the H Share
Class Meeting is conditional upon the Effective Transfer Date occurring, the Offer being
made and the occurrence of the end of the offer period in respect of the Offer; (ii) that the
terms of the Offer (including the Basic Offer Price and the Enhanced Offer Price) are fair
and reasonable so far as the Independent H Shareholders are concerned and the Offer
provides an exit alternative for the Independent H Shareholders who would like to realise
their investments in the H Shares; (iii) the listing status of the H Shares will have no value
to the Independent Shareholders/Independent H Shareholders who opt to accept the
Offer; and (iv) that if the Delisting Resolution is approved (and the offer document is
subsequently despatched), all holders of Offer Shares will, upon accepting the Offer, be
entitled to the Enhanced Offer Price (i.e. the Delisting Incentive, in addition to the Basic
Offer Price), we are of the view that the approval of the Delisting Resolution is beneficial
to the Independent Shareholders and the Independent H Shareholders as it will enhance
the value of their investment exit. Accordingly, we advise the Independent Board
Committee to recommend the Independent Shareholders and the Independent H
Shareholders to vote in favour of the Delisting Resolution at the SGM and the H Share
Class Meeting respectively.

Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of

Gram Capital Limited
Graham Lam

Managing Director

Note: Mr. Graham Lam is a licensed person registered with the Securities and Futures Commission and a
responsible officer of Gram Capital Limited to carry out Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activity under the SFO. He has over 20 years of experience in investment banking industry.

* For identification purposes only
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Set out below are details of the candidates to be elected as Directors at the SGM.

Executive Director

Mr. Bogdan Codrut Burchil (“Mr. Burchil”), aged 43. He would be appointed an
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Burchil graduated from Paris’ Ecole
Polytechnique in 1998, majoring in Fluid Mechanics, and also holds a double EMBA
degree from INSEAD (France) and Tsinghua University (Beijing). Mr. Burchil worked in
automotive industry (VALEO) in research & development and manufacturing, and also in
the oil and gas industry where he held various positions, including as Chief Operations
Officer and Country Quality Manager for ArcelorMittal. He joined Vallourec in 2011 as the
Technical and Quality Director for Vallourec Oil & Gas China. He is currently the General
Manager of Vallourec Oil & Gas China, Managing Director of VAM Changzhou (a
premium threading manufacturing plant) and Managing Director of Vallourec Field
Services Beijing. Mr. Burchil is also member of the Eastern Hemisphere Management
Committee.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Pascal Gustave Ulysse Braquehais (“Mr. Braquehais”), aged 50. He would be
appointed a non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Braquehais graduated from
Rouen University, France, in 1989, majoring in finance. He has 6 years’ experience in
auditing and financial consulting services and 20 years’ extensive experience in
conducting international business across multi-cultural environments. In his previous
working experience, he has been employed with Ernst & Young and Tyco International
Limited. He joined Vallourec Group in 2002 in the Corporate Finance division working on
mergers & acquisitions and various group projects. Then he became the Chief Financial
Officer of Vallourec North America and a Member of the Executive Committee of such
Region in 2008. He has been a member of different boards of directors in North American
entities of Vallourec Group. Mr. Braquehais has been the Managing Director for
Asia-Pacific of the Vallourec Group since February 2016. He was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Vallourec Group in 2016.

Mr. Edouard Frederic Guinotte (“Mr. Guinotte”), aged 46. He would be appointed a
non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Guinotte graduated from Paris’ Engineering
School of Mines in 1993, majoring in Energy and Production Systems. He joined Vallourec
Group in 1995 and since then has been working in various management positions in
production, controlling, mergers & acquisitions and marketing and sales, both in the
automotive and oil and gas industry.
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Supervisor

Mr. Jean-Pierre Michel (“Mr. Michel”), aged 61. He would be appointed a
supervisor of the Company. Mr. Michel from the École Polytechnique and Institut Français
de Gestion. He has worked more than 35 years with Vallourec Group in Plant Management
and Management Control and has been the Chairman of various divisions. Mr. Michel is a
member of the Management Board and CEO of Vallourec S.A. since 2006 and 2009
respectively. He also holds various other positions as the CEO and Director of Vallourec
Tubes (since 2006), the Director of Vallourec Heat Exchanger Tubes (since 2006), the
Director of Vallourec Services (since 2006), the Director of Vallourec Heat Exchanger Tubes
Asia (since 2004), the Manager of Vallourec One (since 2004), the Director of Vallourec
Tubos do Brasil S.A. (Brazil) (since 2008), the Director of Vallourec & Sumitomo Tubos do
Brasil (Brazil) (since 2007), the Director of Vallourec Industries Inc. (United States) (since
2001), the Director of Vallourec Holdings, Inc. (United States) (since 2004), the Director of
VAM USA LLC (United States) (since 2009), the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Vallourec Deutschland GmbH (since 2009), the Member of the Executive Committee of
Vallourec Star, LP (United States) (since 2002), the Director of Vallourec USA Corporation
(United States) (since 2000), the Director of Vallourec Drilling Products USA, Inc. (United
States) (since 2005), the Director of Vallourec Oil & Gas UK Ltd. (United Kingdom) (since
2000) and the Director of Esso Société Anonyme Française (since 2014).

Other than as stated above, the above mentioned Directors and supervisor of the
Company who are proposed to be appointed (1) do not have any relationship with any
other director, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholder of the
Company; (2) are not interested or deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying
shares within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance; and (3) do
not hold any other position with the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The Directors and
supervisors of the Company that are proposed to be appointed did not have any
directorship in other public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the past three years.

Mr. Burchil, Mr. Braquehais, Mr. Guinotte and Mr. Michel have not yet entered into
any service contract with the Company. Subject to election, fees and other emoluments of
Mr. Burchil, Mr. Braquehais, Mr. Guinotte and Mr. Michel, will be determined by the
Board with reference to their respective duties, responsibilities and performance and the
financial results of the Group.

Save as disclosed herein, there is no other information relating to Mr. Burchil, Mr.
Braquehais, Mr. Guinotte and Mr. Michel that is required to be disclosed pursuant to the
requirements of rules 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters
relating to their respective appointment that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.
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Article 21 of the Articles shall be replaced as follows:

“Subject to the approval of China Securities Regulatory Commission on September
7, 2006 and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. On 30 November, 2006,
167,570,000 overseas listed foreign shares were issued by the Company and listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

After the issue of overseas listed foreign shares referred to in the previous
paragraph, the structure of share capital of the Company was as follows: the total number
of ordinary shares was 507,570,000 shares, of which 272,000,000 shares were domestic
shares held by the promoter Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company Limited,
representing 53.59% of the issued share capital; 68,000,000 domestic shares were held by
the Anhui Tianda Investment Company Limited, representing 13.40% of the issued share
capital; and 167,570,000 foreign shares (H shares) were held by the shareholders of
overseas listed foreign shares, representing 33.01% of the aggregate share capital of the
Company.

Subject to the approval of the 2008 annual general meeting held on 28 April, 2008,
the Company increased its capital by the capitalization of the capital common reserve
fund.

After the capitalization of the capital common reserve fund referred to in the
previous paragraph, the structure of share capital of the Company was as follows: the total
number of ordinary shares was 761,355,000 shares, of which 408,000,000 shares were
domestic shares held by the promoter Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company
Limited, representing 53.59% of the issued share capital; 102,000,000 domestic shares were
held by the Anhui Tianda Investment Company Limited, representing 13.40% of the
issued share capital; and 251,355,000 foreign shares (H shares) were held by the
shareholders of overseas listed foreign shares, representing 33.01% of the aggregate share
capital of the Company.

Subject to the approval of the 2009 annual general meeting held on 15 April, 2009,
50,271,000 additional overseas listed foreign shares was issued by the Company.

After the issue of additional overseas listed foreign shares referred to in the
previous paragraph, the structure of share capital of the Company was as follows: the total
number of ordinary shares is 811,626,000 shares, of which 408,000,000 shares were
domestic shares held by the promoter Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company
Limited, representing 50.27% of the issued share capital; 102,000,000 domestic shares were
held by the Anhui Tianda Investment Company Limited, representing 12.57% of the
issued share capital; and 301,626,000 foreign shares (H shares) were held by the
shareholders of overseas listed foreign shares, representing 37.16% of the aggregate share
capital of the Company.
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Subject to the approval of the extraordinary general meeting held on 23 November
2010, the approval of China Securities Regulatory Commission on 23 February 2011 and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 14 October 2010,196,000,000 additional
overseas listed foreign shares was approved to be issued by the Company.

After the capital increase and issue referred to in the previous paragraph, the
structure of share capital of the Company is as follows: the total number of ordinary
shares is 1,007,626,000 shares, of which 408,000,000 shares are domestic shares held by the
promoter Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company Limited, representing 40.49% of the
issued share capital; 102,000,000 domestic shares are held by the Anhui Tianda Investment
Company Limited, representing 10.12% of the issued share capital; 497,626,000 foreign
shares (H shares) are held by the shareholders of overseas listed foreign shares,
representing 49.39% of the aggregate share capital of the Company.

All of the Company’s existing domestic shares are not transferable within one year
from the date on which the H shares of the Company are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

After the initial issue and listing of shares of the Company overseas, domestic
shares and unlisted foreign shares may be converted into H shares, subject to the approval
of the administrative authority delegated by the State Council.

No class meeting is required to convene to poll for the aforesaid transfer of nature of
shares unless the overseas securities regulatory authorities require otherwise.”

The following paragraphs shall be inserted immediately after the 8th paragraph of Article 21 of the

Articles:

“According to the Sale and Purchase Agreement entered into by Anhui Tianda
Enterprise Group Co., Ltd, Anhui Tianda Investment Co., Ltd. and Vallourec Tubes SAS on
29 January 2016, Anhui Tianda Enterprise Group Co., Ltd, and Anhui Tianda Investment
Co., Ltd. agreed to transfer 510,000,000 domestic shares in the aggregate, representing
50.61% of the entire issued share capital of the Company to Vallourec Tubes SAS.

After the share transfer referred to in the previous paragraph, the structure of share
capital of the Company is as follows: the total number of ordinary shares is 1,007,626,000
shares, of which 510,000,000 shares are domestic shares held by Vallourec Tubes SAS,
representing 50.61% of the issued share capital; 497,626,000 foreign shares (H shares) are
held by the shareholders of overseas listed foreign shares, representing 49.39% of the
aggregate share capital of the Company.”
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Accordingly the proposed amendment is as follows:

“Subject to the approval of China Securities Regulatory Commission on 7
September, 2006 and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. On 30 November, 2006,
167,570,000 overseas listed foreign shares were issued by the Company and listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

After the issue of overseas listed foreign shares referred to in the previous
paragraph, the structure of share capital of the Company was as follows: the total number
of ordinary shares was 507,570,000 shares, of which 272,000,000 shares were domestic
shares held by the promoter Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company Limited,
representing 53.59% of the issued share capital; 68,000,000 domestic shares were held by
the Anhui Tianda Investment Company Limited, representing 13.40% of the issued share
capital; and 167,570,000 foreign shares (H shares) were held by the shareholders of
overseas listed foreign shares, representing 33.01% of the aggregate share capital of the
Company.

Subject to the approval of the 2008 annual general meeting held on 28 April, 2008,
the Company increased its capital by the capitalization of the capital common reserve
fund.”
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1. SUMMARY OF THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the financial information of the Group for each of the
years ended 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 and the six months ended 30 June 2016.

The Group had no items which are exceptional because of size, nature or incidence
recorded in the financial statements of the Group for each of the years ended 31 December
2013, 2014 and 2015 and the six month ended 30 June 2016.

Six months ended 30 June Year ended 31 December
2016 2015 2015 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

REVENUE 766,402 1,085,988 2,032,445 2,881,955 3,309,690

Cost of sales (746,080) (1,018,794) (1,946,529) (2,635,524) (3,080,350)

Gross profit 20,322 67,194 85,916 246,431 229,340

Other income and gains 12,741 30,097 50,933 36,086 26,410
Selling and distribution

expenses (53,150) (55,748) (107,933) (140,171) (138,791)
General and

administrative
expenses (13,537) (19,197) (43,109) (39,251) (37,376)

Other expenses (22,931) (927) (2,269) (2,269) (1,144)
Finance costs (1,636) (1,914) (8,654) (6,853) (12,077)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE
TAX (58,191) 19,505 (25,116) 77,416 66,362

Income tax
credit/(expense) (11,160) (4,876) 6,066 (19,637) (17,077)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR
THE PERIOD
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY (69,351) 14,629 (19,050) 57,779 49,285

Other comprehensive
income for the year, net
of tax – – – – (510)

TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE
YEAR (69,351) 14,629 (19,050) 57,779 48,775
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Six months ended 30 June Year ended 31 December
2016 2015 2015 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

PROFIT/(LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent (69,351) 14,629 (19,050) 57,779 49,285

TOTAL
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the parent (69,351) 14,629 (19,050) 57,779 48,775

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER
SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Basic and diluted (RMB
cents) (6.88) 1.45 (1.89) 5.73 4.89

30 June 31 December 31 December 31 December
2016 2015 2014 2013

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES
Total assets 2,671,837 2,858,097 2,939,473 3,186,390
Total liabilities 816,455 933,364 713,555 857,031

Total equity 1,855,382 1,924,733 2,225,918 2,329,359

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, did not issue any qualified opinion on
the financial statements of the Group for each of the years ended 31 December 2013, 2014
and 2015.

2. AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Set out below is the full text of the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards extracted from the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

REVENUE 5 2,032,445 2,881,955
Cost of sales (1,946,529) (2,635,524)

Gross profit 85,916 246,431
Other income and gains 6 50,933 36,086
Selling and distribution expenses (107,933) (140,171)
Administrative expenses (43,109) (39,251)
Other expenses 6 (2,269) (18,826)
Finance costs 7 (8,654) (6,853)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8 (25,116) 77,416
Income tax credit/(expense) 11 6,066 (19,637)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (19,050) 57,779

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (19,050) 57,779

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent (19,050) 57,779

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

Owners of the parent (19,050) 57,779

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) 13 (1.89) 5.73
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,039,664 1,156,880
Prepaid land lease payments 16 24,706 25,358
Deferred tax assets 11 11,160 5,094

Total non-current assets 1,075,530 1,187,332

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 17 463,143 547,714
Trade and notes receivables 18 365,258 559,404
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables 19 121,421 170,113
Tax recoverable 11 4,982 –
Cash and cash equivalents 20 827,763 474,910

Total current assets 1,782,567 1,752,141

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing loans and

borrowings 21 219,067 186,205
Derivative financial instruments 22 – 2,177
Trade and notes payables 23 421,432 306,809
Tax payable 11 – 13,866
Dividend payable 120,915 –
Other payables and accruals 24 171,950 204,498

Total current liabilities 933,364 713,555

NET CURRENT ASSETS 849,203 1,038,586

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,924,733 2,225,918

NET ASSETS 1,924,733 2,225,918

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT

Issued capital 25 503,813 503,813
Reserves 26 1,420,920 1,722,105

TOTAL EQUITY 1,924,733 2,225,918
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2015

Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued
capital

Share
premium

account

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Retained
profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(note 25) (note 26) (note 26) (note 26)

1 January 2014 503,813 1,002,166 109,218 714,162 2,329,359

Total comprehensive
income for the year – – – 57,779 57,779

Appropriation of
statutory reserve – – 5,778 (5,778) –

Final 2013 dividend
declared – – – (161,220) (161,220)

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015 503,813 1,002,166 114,996 604,943# 2,225,918

Total comprehensive
income for the year – – – (19,050) (19,050)

Final 2014 dividend
declared – – – (161,220) (161,220)

Interim 2015 dividend – – – (120,915) (120,915)

At 31 December 2015 503,813 1,002,166* 114,996* 303,758* 1,924,733

# Retained profits have been adjusted for the proposed final 2014 dividend in accordance with the current

year’s presentation, which is described in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB1,420,920,000 (2014:

RMB1,722,105,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before tax: (25,116) 77,416

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 8 152,102 161,899
Amortisation of prepaid land lease

payments 8 652 653
Provision/(reversal) of impairment of

trade receivables 8 (774) 975
Write-down of inventories to net

realisable value 8 14,814 3,850
Finance costs 5,526 5,647
Interest income 6 (1,842) (3,503)
Investment income from bank financial

products 6 (37,592) (23,223)
Fair value losses/(gains), net 6 (2,177) 16,591

105,593 240,305
Decrease in inventories 69,757 17,381
Decrease/(increase) in trade and notes

receivables 194,920 (131,091)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and

other receivables 48,663 190,186
Increase/(decrease) in trade and notes

payables 114,623 (189,519)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables

and accruals (45,564) 20,550

Cash generated from operations 487,992 147,812
Income tax paid 11 (18,848) (18,722)

Net cash flows from operating activities 469,144 129,090
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2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash flows from operating activities 469,144 129,090

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received 1,871 4,556
Purchases of items of property, plant and

equipment (21,532) (47,376)
Investments in bank financial products (5,906,966) (2,956,679)
Cash collected from investments in bank

financial products 5,944,558 2,991,902

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities 17,931 (7,597)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and
borrowings 731,571 785,809

Repayment of interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (699,507) (746,817)

Interest paid (5,732) (5,458)
Dividends paid (161,220) (161,220)

Net cash flows used in financing
activities (134,888) (127,686)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 352,187 (6,193)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year 474,910 481,103

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net 666 –

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 827,763 474,910

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances 20 827,763 474,910

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the statement of financial position
and the statement of cash flows 827,763 474,910
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2015

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited (the “Company”), was established as a limited liability
company by Anhui Tianda Enterprise (Group) Company Limited (“Tianda Holding”) on 23 June
2004 in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). On 13 April 2006, the Company was
re-registered as a joint stock company with limited liability.

On 1 December 2006, the Company issued new H shares by way of international placing and those
H shares were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “HKEx”).

The Company withdrew its listing from the GEM of the HKEx so as to arrange its H shares to be
listed on the Main Board of the HKEx on 24 December 2007 by way of introduction.

On 1 April 2011, the Company issued 196,000,000 new H shares at a price of HK$3.96 per share to
Vallourec & Mannesmann Tubes (“Vallourec”). The net proceeds from the above share issuance,
after deducting the related issuing expenses, were approximately RMB652,857,000.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company of the Company is Tianda Holding. Mr. Ye
Shi Qu (葉世渠) held an 85.14% equity interest in Tianda Holding as at 31 December 2015, and
therefore is the substantive shareholder of the Company.

The Company and its subsidiary (the “Group”) are principally engaged in the design,
manufacture and sale of specialised seamless pipes for the oil and natural gas industry, including
oil well pipes (oil transfer pipes and casing pipes) and petrochemical pipes, as well as other
specialised seamless pipes for vessels, boilers and other purposes. The registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is located at Zhenxing Road, Tongcheng Town,
Tianchang City, Anhui Province, the PRC.

Information about the subsidiary

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiary are as follows:

Company name

Place of
Incorporation/

operations

Nominal
value of

issued
ordinary/

registered
share

capital

Percentage of
equity attributable

to the Company
Principal

activity
Direct Indirect

Hongkong Tianda Oil Pipe
Company limited
(香港天大石油管材股份有限公司)

Hong Kong – 100 – Dormant

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), and International Accounting Standards
(“IASs”) and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Committee that remain in effect and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (RMB’000) except when otherwise indicated.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it
has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary; (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received; (ii) the fair value of any investment retained; and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first time for the current year ’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange relating to the disclosure of financial information with
reference to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current financial year.
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The main impact to the financial statements is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments3

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture5

Amendments to IFRS 10 IFRS 12
and IAS 28 (2011)

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception1

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations1

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts6

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers3

IFRS 16 Leases4

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to IAS 16
and IAS 38

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation1

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

Amendments to IAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses2

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative2

Annual Improvements
2012–2014 Cycle

Amendments to a number of IFRSs1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
5 No specific effective date but early adoption is permitted
6 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning

on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not applicable to the Group

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as
follows:

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the standard upon adoption.

IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.
The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance
obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under IFRSs. In July 2015, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 15 regarding a
one-year deferral of the mandatory effective date of IFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group expects
to adopt IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 15 upon
adoption.
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Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in respect of the presentation and
disclosure in financial statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(ii) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the statement of financial
position may be disaggregated;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial
statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted
for using the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or
loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are
presented in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required (other than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation or amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 2.7%
Plant and machinery 9.5%
Motor vehicles 9.5%
Office equipment and other equipment 9.5% to 19%

Residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which is
stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when
the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it
will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group,
other than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the
cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments
under finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.
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Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance
leases, but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the
operating leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from
the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has no financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial investments, or derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss in administrative expenses for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial
assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss
is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are
written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to administrative expenses in profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and notes payables, other payables and
interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for
trading are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are
designated at the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new
liability, and the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement
of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, to hedge its
foreign currency risk. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except when the
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except
when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by
way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold; and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. In prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the statement of financial
position, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Following the
implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they
are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the
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financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

The functional currency of the overseas subsidiary is currency other than the RMB. As at the end
of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the entity are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
its profit or loss is translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit
or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of the overseas
subsidiary are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiary which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rate for the year.

Retirement benefits

Obligatory retirement benefits in the form of contributions under a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by local government agencies are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The directors of the Company determine the estimated useful lives and residual values and
consequently related depreciation charges. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycles. The directors will increase the depreciation charge where
useful lives and residual values are less than previously estimated, or they will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimated impairment of receivables

The Group records impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and other receivables. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the directors’ estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the difference will impact the carrying values of the trade receivables
and prepayments, deposits and other receivables and impairment expenses in the period in which
the estimates have been changed.
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Estimated write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value based on an assessment of the
realisability of inventories. The assessment of write-down requires directors’ judgement and
estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the difference will impact
the carrying values of inventories and write-down of inventories in the period in which the
estimates have been changed.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary non-deductible provisions and unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary non-deductible provision can be utilised. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to temporary non-deductible provisions at 31
December 2015 was RMB11,160,000 (2014: RMB5,094,000). Further details are contained in note 11
to the financial statements.

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating activities are attributable to a single operating
segment. Therefore, no analysis by operating segment is presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China 1,307,903 1,864,686
Other countries 724,542 1,017,269

2,032,445 2,881,955

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China 1,064,370 1,182,238
Other countries – –

1,064,370 1,182,238

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and
excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately RMB346,646,000 was derived from sales to a customer in 2015 (2014:
RMB645,013,000), including sales to a group of entities which are known to be under common
control with that customer.

APPENDIX III FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

– 65 –



5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, net of value-added tax, after allowances
for returns, trade discounts and various types of government surcharges where applicable during
the year.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Sale of goods 2,032,445 2,881,955

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND OTHER EXPENSES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income and gains
Investment income from bank financial products 37,592 23,223
Government grants 7,638 1,785
Investment income from foreign exchange forward

contracts not qualifying as hedges 1,490 7,068
Fair value gains, net 2,177 –
Bank interest income 1,842 3,503
Others 194 507

50,933 36,086

Government grants have been received from the local government authorities as subsidies to the
Group. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attaching to these grants.

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Other expenses
Bank charges 1,490 2,228
Fair value losses, net – 16,591
Others 779 7

2,269 18,826

7. FINANCE COSTS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loan interest 5,394 5,647
Foreign exchange losses 3,260 1,206

8,654 6,853
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of inventories sold 1,946,529 2,635,524
Depreciation 15 152,102 161,899
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 16 652 653
Provision/(reversal) of impairment of trade

receivables 18 (774) 975
Write-down of inventories to net realisable

value 14,814 3,850
Research costs 26 51
Auditors’ remuneration 920 970
Staff costs (including directors’, chief

executive’s and supervisors’ remuneration
as set out in note 9):
– Salaries and other staff costs 88,485 101,710
– Retirement benefit contributions 15,239 15,665

Foreign exchange difference, net 3,260 1,206

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company does not have the position of chief executive. Directors’ and supervisors’
remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 150 126

Other emoluments:
– Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 312 293
– Performance-related bonuses 1,476 1,431
– Retirement benefit contributions 37 38

1,825 1,762

1,975 1,888
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(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year were as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Zhao Bin 50 50
Wang Bo 50 50
Wang Jie 50 26

150 126

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors
during the year (2014: Nil).

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and supervisors

Salaries,
allowances

and
benefits in

kind

Performance-
related

bonuses

Retirement
benefit

contributions
Total

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2015

Directors:
Ye Shi Qu 72 495 2 569
Zhang Hu Ming 72 495 11 578
Liu Peng – – – –
Fu Jun Iris – – – –
Bruno Saintes – – – –

144 990 13 1,147

Supervisors:
Yang Quan Fu 48 12 11 71
Geng Wei Long 63 74 11 148
Huang Yao Qi 57 400 2 459
Didier Maurice

Francis Hornet – – – –

168 486 24 678
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Salaries,
allowances

and
benefits in

kind

Performance-
related

bonuses

Retirement
benefit

contributions
Total

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2014

Directors:
Ye Shi Qu 76 495 10 581
Zhang Hu Ming 76 495 10 581
Liu Peng – – – –
Fu Jun Iris – – – –
Bruno Saintes – – – –

152 990 20 1,162

Supervisors:
Yang Quan Fu 52 10 10 72
Geng Wei Long 27 31 4 62
Huang Yao Qi 62 400 4 466
Didier Maurice

Francis Hornet – – – –

141 441 18 600

There was no arrangement under which a director or supervisor waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2014: three) directors and
supervisors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining two (2014: two) non-director or non-supervisor, highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 116 70
Performance-related bonuses 645 839
Retirement benefit contributions 22 10

783 919

The number of non-director or non-supervisor, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following band is as follows:

Number of employees
2015 2014

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 2
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11. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 25% on its taxable income according to the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, effective from 1 January 2008.

The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are
as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Current – Mainland China
Charge for the year – 24,991

Deferred:
Relating to origination of temporary differences (6,066) (5,354)

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year (6,066) 19,637

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rate for the
jurisdiction in which the Company and its subsidiary are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit/(loss) before income tax (25,116) 77,416

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% (6,279) 19,354
Expenses not deductible for tax 213 283

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective rate (6,066) 19,637

Effective tax rate 24.15% 25.37%

The movements in income tax payable/(recoverable) during the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 13,866 7,597
Provision for the year – 24,991
Payment during the year (18,848) (18,722)

At end of year (4,982) 13,866
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The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Losses
available

for
offsetting

against
future

taxable
profits

Provision
for

impairment
of assets

Fair value
adjustments

arising
from

derivative
financial

instruments Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2014 – 3,343 – 3,343
Deferred tax credited to profit or

loss during the year – 1,207 544 1,751

Gross deferred tax assets at
31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015 – 4,550 544 5,094

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
profit or loss during the year 3,150 3,460 (544) 6,066

Gross deferred tax assets at 31
December 2015 3,150 8,010 – 11,160

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

derivative
financial

instruments
RMB’000

At 1 January 2014 3,603
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year (3,603)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2014 –
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12. DIVIDENDS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interim special dividend – RMB12.0 cents (2014: Nil)
per ordinary share 120,915 –

Proposed final dividend – Nil (2014: RMB4.0 cents)
per ordinary share – 40,305

Proposed special dividend – Nil (2014: RMB12.0 cents)
per ordinary share – 120,915

120,915 161,220

The board of directors of the Company do not propose a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2015.

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF

THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss (2014: earnings) per share is based on the loss (2014: profit) for the
year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
shares (including Domestic Shares and H Shares) of 1,007,626,000 in issue during the year (2014:
1,007,626,000).

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

14. RETIREMENT BENEFIT CONTRIBUTIONS

As stipulated by the PRC regulations, the Company participates in a defined contribution
retirement scheme. All formal employees are entitled to an annual pension equal to a fixed
proportion of the average basic salary amount of their last employment at their retirement date.
The Group is required to make contributions to the local social insurance bureau at a rate of 20%
of the average basic salaries for the employees of the Group in Mainland China. The Company has
no obligations for the payment of pension benefits beyond the annual contributions to the local
social insurance bureau as set out above.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Plant and

machinery
Motor

vehicles

Office
equipment

and other
equipment

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

As at 1 January 2014 406,421 1,552,742 2,505 43,530 5,620 2,010,818
Additions – 1,182 – – 24,320 25,502
Transferred from

construction in progress – 14,859 59 4,937 (19,855) –

As at 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015 406,421 1,568,783 2,564 48,467 10,085 2,036,320

Additions 219 3,922 – – 30,745 34,886
Transferred from

construction in progress 5,601 27,502 – 2,660 (35,763) –

As at 31 December 2015 412,241 1,600,207 2,564 51,127 5,067 2,071,206

Accumulated depreciation:

As at 1 January 2014 50,940 644,549 367 21,685 – 717,541
Charge for the year 11,039 146,750 242 3,868 – 161,899

As at 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015 61,979 791,299 609 25,553 – 879,440

Charge for the year 11,070 136,487 235 4,310 – 152,102

As at 31 December 2015 73,049 927,786 844 29,863 – 1,031,542

Net book value:

As at 31 December 2015 339,192 672,421 1,720 21,264 5,067 1,039,664

As at 31 December 2014 344,442 777,484 1,955 22,914 10,085 1,156,880

All buildings of the Group are located in Mainland China.
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16. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:
At beginning and end of year 31,573 31,573

Accumulated amortisation:
At beginning of year 6,215 5,562
Charge for the year 652 653

At end of year 6,867 6,215

Net book value at end of year 24,706 25,358

17. INVENTORIES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 217,846 244,060
Work in progress 6,245 8,558
Finished goods and merchandises 234,865 286,358
Consigned processing goods 4,187 8,738

463,143 547,714

Included in inventories as at 31 December 2015 were costs of certain inventories of
RMB127,794,000 (31 December 2014: RMB120,190,000), which were carried at a net realisable
value.

18. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Notes receivable from domestic third parties 84,713 149,983

Trade receivables from overseas customers 74,905 243,292
Trade receivables from domestic customers 205,640 167,104

280,545 410,396
Impairment – (975)

365,258 559,404
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The balances of notes receivable are unsecured, interest-free and mature within six months.

Customers are usually required to make payment in advance before the Group delivers goods to
them. However, the Group’s trading terms with its overseas customers and certain major
domestic customers are on credit. The credit period is generally 1 to 45 days extending up to 100
days for certain strategic customers. The Group enters into sales with overseas customers through
irrevocable letters of credit or telegraphic transfers. Each domestic customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is
no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are unsecured and
interest-free.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Outstanding balances with ages:
Within one year 280,492 407,299
Between one and two years 53 3,097

280,545 410,396

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of year 975 –
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) (774) 975
Amount written off as uncollectible (201) –

At end of year – 975

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Neither past due nor impaired 280,545 407,098

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to many diversified customers from
whom there was no recent history of default.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables were amount due from Vallourec Oil & Gas (China) Co.,
Ltd. (“VOGC”) of approximately RMB66,432,000 (2014: RMB64,871,000), from Vallourec Oil & Gas
France (“VOGF”) of nil (2014: RMB177,936,000), and from Vallourec Middle East FZE (“VME”) of
nil (2014: RMB6,902,000), which were all payable on a credit term of 45 days.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had pledged notes receivable of approximately
RMB55,494,000 (2014: RMB76,807,000) to secure bank accepted drafts issued by banks.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had pledged trade receivables of approximately
RMB219,067,000 (2014: RMB186,205,000) to secure bank loans.
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments 27,916 71,013
Deposits and other receivables 93,392 98,958
Bank interest receivables 113 142

121,421 170,113
Impairment – –

121,421 170,113

All balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Included in the Group’s deposits and other receivables were (i) time deposits of RMB62,018,000 to
the banks to secure the bank accepted drafts and letters of credit (2014: RMB31,671,000); and (ii)
the net input value-added tax (“VAT”) of RMB29,762,000 (2014: RMB65,525,000) arising from the
purchase of items of property, plant and equipment after deducting the output VAT for domestic
sales.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances 729,963 145,240
Short-term deposits with maturity of three

months or less 97,800 329,670
Short-term deposits with maturity of over three

months 62,018 31,671

889,781 506,581
Less: Pledged time deposits for bank accepted

drafts 19 (59,183) (30,667)
Pledged time deposits for letters of credit 19 (2,835) (1,004)

Cash and cash equivalents 827,763 474,910

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB
amounted to RMB813,451,000 (2014: RMB453,284,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term
deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and six months, depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit
rates. The bank balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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21. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2015 2014
Contractual

interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Contractual
interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000

Current:
Bank loans 0.95–4.14 2016 219,067 1.43–3.70 2015 186,205

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Analysed into:
Bank loans:

Within one year 219,067 186,205

The bank loans as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 bore interest at fixed rates.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s loans were secured by the pledge of certain of the Group’s
trade receivables amounting to RMB219,067,000 (2014: RMB186,205,000).

As at the end of the reporting period, the bank loans were denominated in the following
currencies:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

US$ 42,117 181,153
RMB 100,000 –
HK$ 76,950 –
Euro – 5,052

219,067 186,205

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group did not have derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2015.

2014

Liabilities
RMB’000

Foreign exchange forward contracts 2,177
Portion classified as non-current –

Current portion 2,177

The above foreign exchange forward contracts did not qualify for hedge accounting. The changes
in the net fair value losses of RMB2,177,000 were debited to profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2014 (2015: Nil).
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23. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Notes payable to third parties 289,931 184,030
Trade payables to third parties 131,501 122,779

421,432 306,809

All note payable balances were interest-free and payable in six months.

All trade payable balances were unsecured, interest-free and generally on a credit term of 30 days.

An aged analysis of the trade and notes payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the invoice/issuance date, is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Outstanding balances with ages:
Within one year 404,366 287,775
Between one and two years 11,382 11,472
Between two and three years 3,508 2,124
Over three years 2,176 5,438

421,432 306,809

The notes payable to third parties represent the issued bank accepted drafts, secured by the
pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits of RMB59,183,000 and notes receivable of
RMB55,494,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: time deposits of RMB30,667,000 and notes
receivable of RMB76,807,000).

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Advances from customers 39,086 50,000
Payroll payables 41,013 44,080
Other payables 91,851 110,418

171,950 204,498

Except for a miscellaneous tax payable of RMB8,791,000 (2014: RMB13,416,000) included in other
payables, all the balances of other payables and accruals were unsecured, interest-free and had no
fixed terms of repayment as at the end of the reporting period.
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25. ISSUED CAPITAL

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Shares
Registered, issued and fully paid:

Domestic shares of RMB0.50 each, currently not listed 255,000 255,000
H shares of RMB0. 50 each 248,813 248,813

503,813 503,813

The Company was re-registered as a joint stock company on 13 April 2006 by the issuance of
170,000,000 fully paid domestic shares with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each to the then
shareholders.

On 7 September 2006, the China Securities Regulatory Commission (the “CSRC”) approved the
Company’s subdivision of one domestic share of a nominal value of RMB1.00 into two domestic
shares of RMB0.50 each.

Pursuant to the approval document issued by the CSRC, Zheng Jian Guo He Zi [2006] No.17, the
Company was authorised to issue new H shares. On 1 December 2006, 145,714,000 H shares with
a nominal value of RMB0.50 each were issued to the public by way of international offering at a
price of HK$3.00 (equivalent to approximately RMB3.02145) per share. On 7 December 2006,
21,856,000 H shares under an over-allotment option arrangement with a nominal value of
RMB0.50 each were issued at a price of HK$3.00 (equivalent to approximately RMB3.02037) per
share. The net proceeds from the above share offer, after deducting the related underwriting and
other expenses, were RMB464,242,000.

On 23 May 2008, the Company issued and allotted bonus shares to each of the shareholders,
whose names were recorded on the Company’s register of members on 28 April 2008. Each of
these shareholders was offered five new shares for every ten shares held as a bonus issue.

On 11 December 2009, a total of 50,271,000 new H Shares were placed at a price of HK$4.00
(equivalent to approximately RMB3.5236) per share. The net proceeds from the above share offer,
after deducting the related underwriting and other expenses, were approximately
RMB172,792,000.

On 1 April 2011, the Company issued 196,000,000 new H shares at a price of HK$3.96 per share to
Vallourec. The net proceeds from the above share issuance, after deducting the related issuing
expenses, were approximately RMB652,857,000.

There was no movement in the Company’s issued capital during the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014.

Number
of shares

in issue
Issued
capital

Share
premium

account Total
’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2014 and
at 31 December 2015 1,007,626 503,813 1,002,166 1,505,979
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26. RESERVES

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the articles of association of the Company,
the Company is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax, as determined in accordance with
the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises issued by the Ministry of Finance of the
People’s Republic of China in 2006 (“PRC GAAP”) applicable to the Company, to the statutory
surplus reserve (the “SSR”) until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
Company. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the SSR
may be converted to increase the paid-up capital of the Company, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital prior to such
conversion.

Distributable reserves

Regarding dividends, the amount that the Company can legally distribute is based on the lesser
amount of the retained profits determined in accordance with PRC GAAP and those under IFRSs.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profit after tax can be distributed as dividends
after the transfer to the SSR, as set out above.

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

28. PLEDGED ASSETS

Details of the Group’s bank loans, notes payable and irrevocable letters of credit which are
secured by the pledge of the Group’s time deposits and note receivables, are included in notes 18,
19, 20, 21 and 23 to the financial statements.

29. COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitments

Future minimum rentals payable to Tianda Holding under non-cancellable operating leases as at
31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 209 183
After one year but not more than five years – 104

209 287

In addition to the above operating lease commitments, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Capital commitments

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Plant and machinery 11,310 2,901
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the

Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales of oil pipes to the subsidiaries of Vallourec
(note i) 346,646 645,013

Purchases of services from subsidiaries of Vallourec
(note ii) 3,938 2,233

Purchases of water from Tianda Holding (note iii) 577 429

Purchases of materials from fellow subsidiaries
(note iv) 302 475

Lease of a dormitory from Tianda Holding (note v) 96 96

Notes:

(i) Included in the sales during the year ended 31 December 2015 are approximately
RMB253,294,000 (2014: RMB336,418,000), RMB88,239,000 (2014: RMB294,245,000),
RMB1,259,000 (2014: RMB2,276,000), RMB3,854,000 (2014: RMB11,864,000) and nil
(2014: RMB210,000) derived from VOGC, VOGF, Vallourec DEUTSCHLAND
GmbH, VME and VAM Changzhou Oil & Gas Premium Equipment Co., Ltd.,
respectively. The sales were conducted based on mutually agreed terms with
reference to market prices, after deducting the agreed commission fees.

(ii) These transactions were carried out based on the agreements between the Group
and the subsidiaries of Vallourec.

(iii) The purchases were conducted based on mutually agreed terms with reference to
market prices.

(iv) These transactions were carried out based on mutually agreed terms with
reference to market prices, as agreed between the Group and the fellow
subsidiaries which are controlled by Tianda Holding.

(v) Pursuant to the dormitory lease agreement entered into with Tianda Holding, the
Group paid an annual rent of RMB96,200 for the years from 1 January 2012 to 31
December 2015.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s trade receivable balances with VOGC, VOGF and VME at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Short-term employee benefits 3,129 3,513
Retirement benefit contributions 78 79

3,207 3,592

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

All the above related party transactions also constitute connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments of the Group as at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents 827,763 474,910
Bank interest receivables 113 142
Trade and notes receivables 365,258 559,404
Pledged deposits 62,018 31,671
Other financial assets included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables 1,084 1,042

1,256,236 1,067,169

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Trade and notes payables 421,432 306,809
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:

– Fixed rate borrowings 219,067 186,205
Other financial liabilities included in other payables

and accruals 83,060 97,002
Dividend payable 120,915 –

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments – 2,177

844,474 592,193
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32. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety

At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain bills (notes) receivable accepted by banks in the
PRC (the “Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due
to these suppliers with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB159,052,000 (2014:
RMB1,641,226,000) (the “Endorsement”). The Derecognised Bills have maturity from one to six
months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a right of recourse against the Group if the
PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated trade
payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is
equal to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not significant.

During the year, the Group has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of the
Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing Involvement, both
during the year or cumulatively. The Endorsement has been made evenly throughout the year.

33. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with
carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2015 2014 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and

borrowings
– Fixed rate borrowings 219,067 186,205 220,889 186,559

Derivative financial instruments – 2,177 – 2,177

219,067 188,382 220,889 188,736

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, bank interest
receivables, trade and notes receivables, pledged deposits, trade and notes payables, dividend
payable, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of held-to-maturity investments and fixed rate borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, principally
financial institutions with AAA credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, primarily foreign
exchange forward contracts, are measured using valuation techniques similar to the forward
pricing model, using present value calculations. The model incorporates various market
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observable inputs including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and
forward rates. The carrying amounts of forward currency contracts are the same as their fair
values. As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have unsettled foreign exchange forward
contracts.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
instruments:

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2015

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2014

Fair value measurement using
Quoted

prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Derivative financial
instruments – 2,177 – 2,177

Liabilities for which fair value is disclosed:

As at 31 December 2015

Fair value measurement using
Quoted

prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings – 220,889 – 220,889

As at 31 December 2014

Fair value measurement using
Quoted

prices in
active

markets
(Level 1)

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3) Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings – 186,559 – 186,559
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing loans and borrowings, as
well as cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and notes receivables as well as trade and notes payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally foreign exchange
forward contracts. The purpose is to manage foreign currency risks arising from the Group’s
operations and its sources of finance.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in
financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks which are summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation to
derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Foreign currency risk

Currently, the PRC government imposes control over foreign currencies. The RMB, the official
currency in Mainland China, is not freely convertible. Enterprises operating in Mainland China
can enter into exchange transactions through the People’s Bank of China or other authorised
financial institutions. Payments for imported materials or services and remittance of earnings
outside of Mainland China are subject to the availability of foreign currencies which depends on
the foreign currency denominated earnings of the enterprises, or must be arranged through the
People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions. Approval for exchanges at the
People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions is granted to enterprises in
Mainland China for valid reasons such as purchases of imported materials and remittance of
earnings. While conversion of RMB to Hong Kong dollars or other foreign currencies can
generally be effected at the People’s Bank of China or other authorised financial institutions, there
is no guarantee that it can be effected at all times.

The Group does not have any significant investment outside of Mainland China. However, the
Group has transaction currency exposures. These exposures arise from sales in currencies other
than the Group’s functional currency. Approximately 36% of the Group’s sales for the year ended
31 December 2015 (2014: 35%) were denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the operating entities making the sales. Upon receipt of currencies other than the functional
currency, the Group sells them to the banks immediately.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at the end of the reporting period to a
reasonably possible change in foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities).

Increase/
(decrease) in

rate %

Increase/
(decrease) in
profit before

tax
RMB’000

US$
2015 5% 2,982

(5%) (2,982)

2014 5% 4,285
(5%) (4,285)

EUR
2015 5% 266

(5%) (266)

2014 5% (164)
(5%) 164

HK$
2015 5% (3,847)

(5%) 3,847

2014 5% 4
(5%) (4)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy
that customers are required to make payment in advance before the Company delivers goods to
them, except for overseas customers and certain domestic major customers, to whom credit terms
of 1 to 45 days extending up to 100 days for certain strategic customers are granted with the
shortfall between advances received and invoiced amounts, subject to the credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis, and therefore, the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer. There is no
significant concentration of credit risk with the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This
tool considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank accepted drafts and bank loans.

The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2015
On

demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing loans
and borrowings – 42,227 182,458 – – 224,685

Trade and notes payables 56,713 274,207 90,459 53 – 421,432
Dividend payable – 120,915 – – – 120,915
Other financial liabilities

included in other payables
and accruals 83,060 – – – – 83,060

139,773 437,349 272,917 53 – 850,092

2014
On

demand
Less than
3 months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing loans and
borrowings – 187,420 – – – 187,420

Derivative financial
instruments – 923 1,254 – – 2,177

Trade and notes payables 122,780 49,154 134,875 – – 306,809
Other financial liabilities

included in other payables
and accruals 97,002 – – – – 97,002

219,782 237,497 136,129 – – 593,408

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

APPENDIX III FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

– 87 –



The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus
net debt. The net debt includes interest-bearing loans and borrowings, trade and notes payables,
other payables and accruals, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable
to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 219,067 186,205
Trade and notes payables 421,432 306,809
Other payables and accruals 171,950 204,498
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (827,763) (474,910)

Net debt (15,314) 222,602

Equity 1,924,733 2,225,918

Capital and net debt 1,909,419 2,448,520

Gearing ratio Not applicable 9%

35. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 29 January 2016, Anhui Tianda Enterprise Group Co., Ltd. and Anhui Tianda Investment Co.,
Ltd. (collectively as the “Vendors”) entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement with Vallourec
(as the “Offeror”), pursuant to which the Offeror has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the 510,000,000 domestic shares of the Company held by
the Vendors (the “Sale Shares”) for total consideration of HK$846,600,000, equivalent to HK$1.66
per Sale Share.

Completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement upon the fulfilment of the relevant conditions,
the Offeror will be required to make an unconditional mandatory cash offer (the “Offer”) for all
the issued H shares (other than those H shares already owned by or agreed to be acquired by the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it at the time when the Offer is made) at either HK$1.66
per share (if the Delisting Resolution is not approved) or HK$1.67 (payable if the Delisting
Resolution is approved), in accordance with the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.

Such Offer is subject to the completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Upon completion of
the Offer, the Offeror proposes to delist the Company from the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Such delist resolution is subject to the approval of independent shareholders at the
general meeting to be convened by the Company.

36. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, due to the implementation of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current year, the presentation and
disclosures of certain items and balances in the financial statements have been revised to comply
with the new requirements. Accordingly, certain comparative amounts have been restated to
conform with the current year ’s presentation and disclosures.
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 1,039,664 1,156,880
Prepaid land lease payments 24,706 25,358
Deferred tax assets 11,160 5,094
Investment in subsidiaries – –

Total non-current assets 1,075,530 1,187,332

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 463,143 547,714
Trade and notes receivables 365,258 559,404
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 121,421 170,113
Tax recoverable 4,982 –
Cash and cash equivalents 827,763 474,910

Total current assets 1,782,567 1,752,141

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 219,067 186,205
Derivative financial instruments – 2,177
Trade and notes payables 421,432 306,809
Tax payable – 13,866
Dividend payable 120,915 –
Other payables and accruals 171,950 204,498

Total current liabilities 933,364 713,555

NET CURRENT ASSETS 849,203 1,038,586

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,924,733 2,225,918

NET ASSETS 1,924,733 2,225,918

EQUITY

Issued capital 503,813 503,813
Reserves 1,420,920 1,722,105

TOTAL EQUITY 1,924,733 2,225,918
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Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share
premium

account

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Retained
profits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 1,002,166 109,218 714,162 1,825,546

Total comprehensive income
for the year – – 57,779 57,779

Appropriation of statutory surplus
reserve – 5,778 (5,778) –

Final 2013 dividend declared – – (161,220) (161,220)

At 31 December 2014 and
1 January 2015 1,002,166 114,996 604,943 1,722,105

Total comprehensive income
for the year – – (19,050) (19,050)

Final 2014 dividend declared – – (161,220) (161,220)
Interim 2015 dividend – – (120,915) (120,915)

At 31 December 2015 1,002,166 114,996 303,758 1,420,920

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 31 March 2016.
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3. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED
30 JUNE 2016

Set out below is the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the six months ended 30 June 2016 prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Reporting
Standards extracted from the interim report of the Company for the six months ended 30
June 2016.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

REVENUE 2 766,402 1,085,988
Cost of sales (746,080) (1,018,794)

Gross profit 20,322 67,194

Other income and gains 3 12,741 30,097
Selling and distribution expenses (53,150) (55,748)
Administrative expenses (13,537) (19,197)
Other expenses (22,931) (927)
Finance costs (1,636) (1,914)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 4 (58,191) 19,505
Income tax expense 5 (11,160) (4,876)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD (69,351) 14,629

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent (69,351) 14,629

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE PARENT

(69,351) 14,629

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
Basic earnings/(loss) for the

period (RMB cents) 7 (6.88) 1.45

Details of the proposed dividends for the period are disclosed in note 6 to the
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 976,592 1,039,664
Prepaid land lease payments 24,379 24,706
Deferred tax assets – 11,160

Total non-current assets 1,000,971 1,075,530

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 526,154 463,143
Trade and notes receivables 8 387,672 365,258
Prepayments, deposits and other

receivables 9 232,137 121,421
Tax recoverable 4,982 4,982
Cash and cash equivalents 519,921 827,763

Total current assets 1,670,866 1,782,567

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing loans and

borrowings 62,000 219,067
Trade and notes payables 10 539,674 421,432
Dividend payable 6 – 120,915
Other payables and accruals 11 214,781 171,950

Total current liabilities 816,455 933,364

NET CURRENT ASSETS 854,411 849,203

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,855,382 1,924,733

NET ASSETS 1,855,382 1,924,733

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE PARENT

Issued capital 503,813 503,813
Reserves 1,351,569 1,420,920

TOTAL EQUITY 1,855,382 1,924,733
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For six months ended 30 June 2016

Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued
capital

Share
premium

Available-
for-sales

investment
revaluation

reserve

Statutory
Surplus
Reserve

Retained
profits

Proposed
Dividend Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

1 January 2016 503,813 1,002,166 – 114,996 303,758 – 1,924,733

Total comprehensive
income for the period – – – – (69,351) – (69,351)

30 June 2016 (unaudited) 503,813 1,002,166 – 114,996 234,407 – 1,855,382

1 January 2015 503,813 1,002,166 – 114,996 443,723 161,220 2,225,918

Total comprehensive
income for the period – – – – 14,629 – 14,629

2015 interim dividend
proposed (note 6) – – – – (120,915) 120,915 –

2014 final dividend
declared (note 6) – – – – – (161,220) (161,220)

30 June 2015 (unaudited) 503,813 1,002,166 – 114,996 337,437 120,915 2,079,327
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Net cash flows from operating activities (19,132) 364,517

Net cash flows used in investing activities (8,930) (15,810)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (279,780) (23,620)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (307,842) 325,087

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
period 827,763 474,910

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 519,921 799,997
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 June 2016

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2016 have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34
“Interim Financial Reporting” issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000)
except when otherwise indicated.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements do not included all the
information and disclosures required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in
conjunction with the Group’s annual financial statements as at 31 December 2015.

Impact of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards

The accounting policies adopted in preparation of the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, except for the adoption of the new and revised
standards and interpretation as of 1 January 2016, noted below:

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and

Amortisation
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants
Amendments to IAS 27 (2011) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12

and IAS 28 (2011)
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of IFRSs

The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs has had no significant financial effect on these
financial statements.

The Group has not early adopted any other standards, interpretations or amendments that has
been issued but is not yet effective.

Issued but not yet effective International Financial Reporting Standards

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers2

Amendments to IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers2

IFRS 16 Leases3

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred tax assets for Unrealised
losses1

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based payment: Classification and
Measurement2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs
upon initial application. So far, the Group considers that these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely
to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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2. REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, net of value-added tax, after allowances
for returns, trade discounts and various types of government surcharges.

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Sale of goods 766,477 1,086,426
Less: Government surcharges (75) (438)

Revenue 766,402 1,085,988

3. OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Investment income from bank financial products 9,447 19,068
Investment income from foreign exchange forward

contracts not qualifying as hedges – 2,195
Bank interest income 795 1,646
Foreign exchange gain, net 1,555 2,716
Refund of land use tax from government and others 944 4,472

12,741 30,097

4. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging:

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Cost of inventories sold 746,080 1,018,794
Depreciation 75,808 73,215
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 326 326
Reversal of inventories to net realisable value (4,673) –
Provision for loss orders 22,408 –
Research costs – –
Auditors’ remuneration – –
Staff costs (including directors’, chief executive’s and

supervisors’ remuneration):
– Salaries and other staff costs 34,538 46,184
– Retirement benefit contributions 6,415 7,499
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5. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong for the six months ended 30 June 2016 (Six months ended 30 June 2015: Nil).

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 25% on its taxable income according to the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, effective from 1 January 2008.

The major components of income tax expense for the six months ended 30 June 2016 and 2015 are
as follows:

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Current
Charge for the year – 4,332

Deferred:
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary

differences 11,160 544

Total tax charge for the year 11,160 4,876

6. DIVIDENDS

The board of directors does not propose an interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June
2016 (Six months ended 30 June 2015: interim special dividend of RMB120,915,000).

Pursuant to the resolution passed in the annual general meeting held on 10 December 2015, the
Group’s shareholders approved the interim dividend for the half year ended 30 June 2015
amounting to RMB120,915,000 (RMB0.12 per share) payable to the then shareholders. Such
dividends were paid on 11 January 2016 in accordance with the announcement.

7. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the profit/(loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of shares
(including Domestic Shares and H Shares) of 1,007,626,000 in issue during the six months ended
30 June 2016 (Six months ended 30 June 2015: 1,007,626,000).

8. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Notes receivable from domestic third parties 76,625 84,713
Trade receivables from overseas customers 172,055 74,905
Trade receivables from domestic customers 138,992 205,640
Impairment – –

387,672 365,258
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The balances of notes receivable are unsecured, interest-free and mature within six months.

Customers are usually required to make payment in advance before the Group delivers goods to
them. However, the Group’s trading terms with its overseas customers and certain major
domestic customers are on credit. The credit period is generally 1 to 45 days extending up to 270
days for certain strategic customers. The Group enters into sales with overseas customers through
irrevocable letters of credit. Each domestic customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are unsecured and interest-free.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables were amounts due from VMOG China (“VOGC”) and
Vallourec Middle East FZE (“VME”) of approximately RMB64,637,000 (31 December 2015:
approximately RMB66,432,000) and approximately RMB86,558,000 (31 December 2015: Nil),
respectively, which were payable on a credit term of 45 days.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Outstanding balances with ages:
Within one year 311,047 280,492
Between one and two years – 53

311,047 280,545

As at 30 June 2016, the Group had pledged notes receivable of approximately RMB29,729,000 (31
December 2015: RMB55,494,000) for issuing the bank accepted bills of exchange.

As at 30 June 2016, the Group did not have any pledged trade receivables. (As at 31 December
2015, the Group had RMB219,067,000 pledged trade receivable for bank loan).

9. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Prepayments 98,948 27,916
Deposits and other receivables 132,954 93,392
Bank interest receivables 235 113

232,137 121,421

The Group did not write off irrecoverable prepayments and other receivables during the period
ended 30 June 2016 (31 December 2015: Nil).

All balances of prepayments, deposits and other receivables are unsecured, interest-free and have
no fixed terms of repayment, and are not overdue nor impaired.

Included in the Group’s and the Company’s deposits and other receivables were (i) time deposits
of RMB114,265,000 pledged to the banks to secure the bank accepted drafts and letter of credit (31
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December 2015: RMB62,018,000); and (ii) the net input value-added tax (“VAT”) of RMB15,159,000
(31 December 2015: RMB29,762,000) arising from the purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment and materials after deducting the output VAT for domestic sales.

10. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Notes payable to third parties 389,152 289,931
Trade payables to third parties 150,522 131,501

539,674 421,432

All note payable balances were unsecured, interest-free and were payable in six months.

All trade payable balances were unsecured, interest-free and were generally on a credit term of 30
days.

An aged analysis of the trade and notes payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the invoice/issuance date, is as follows:

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Outstanding balances with ages:
Within one year 504,137 404,366
Between one and two years 22,182 11,382
Between two and three years 8,724 3,508
Over three years 4,631 2,176

539,674 421,432

11. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30 June 31 December
2016 2015

RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Audited)

Advances from customers 39,274 39,086
Payroll payables 34,034 41,013
Other payables 141,473 91,851

214,781 171,950

As at 30 June 2016, other payables includes RMB22,408,000 of order-loss provision (31 December
2015: none).
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As at 30 June 2016, the service fee payable to VOGC amounted to RMB575,000 and the payable to
VOGC in relation to the third parties’ inspection fee paid by VOGC on behalf of the Group
amounted to RMB717,000 (31 December 2015: no service fee and third parties’ inspection fee were
payable to VOGC).

All the balances of other payables and accruals were unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed
terms of repayment as at the end of the reporting period.

12. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following material transactions with related parties during the period:

For the six months ended
30 June

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Sales of oil pipes to VOGC and fellow subsidiaries (note i) 161,149 209,213
Purchases of services from VOGC (note ii) 575 464
Third parties’ inspection fee paid by VOGC on behalf of

the Company (note ii) 717 667
Purchases of water from Tianda Holding

(note iv) 282 236
Purchases of materials from fellow subsidiaries (note iii) 87 128
Lease of a dormitory from Tianda Holding (note v) 71 48

Remarks:

(i) The sales were conducted based on mutually agreed terms with reference to market prices,
after deducting the agreed commission fees.

(ii) The Group’s payable to VOGC in relation to service fee and third party inspection fee paid
by VOGC on behalf of the Group were determined based on the mutual agreement.

(iii) These transactions were carried out based on mutually agreed terms with reference to
market prices, as agreed between the Group and the fellow subsidiaries which are
controlled by Tianda Holding.

(iv) The purchases were conducted based on mutually agreed terms with reference to market
prices.

(v) Pursuant to the dormitory lease agreement entered into with Tianda Holding, the Group
paid an annual rent of RMB141,000 for the years from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2017.

The Group’s trade receivables due from VOGC and fellow subsidiaries and the Group’s trade
payables due to VOGC, Tianda Holding and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2016 had been disclosed
in note 8 and 11, respectively.
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4. INDEBTEDNESS

Borrowings

At the close of business on 30 June 2016, being the latest practicable date for
the purpose of this statement of indebtedness prior to printing to this Circular, the
Group had the unsecured interest-bearing bank loans amounting to RMB62,000
repayable within one year.

Securities and guarantee

At the close of business on 30 June 2016, the Group had pledged notes
receivable of approximately RMB29,729,000 for issuing the bank accepted bills of
exchange.

Contingent liabilities

At the close of business on 30 June 2016, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

At the close of business on 30 June 2016, the Group did not have significant
contingent liabilities.

Save as aforesaid, and apart from intra-group liabilities and normal trade
payables in the ordinary course of business, as at the close of business on 30 June
2016, the Group did not have any debt securities issued and outstanding or agreed
to be issued, bank overdrafts, loans or other similar indebtedness, liabilities under
acceptances (other than normal trade bills) or acceptance credits, mortgages,
charges, finance lease or hire purchase commitments, guarantees or other material
contingent liabilities.

The Directors confirmed that no material changes in the indebtedness and
contingent liabilities of the Group since 30 June 2016 up to and including the Latest
Practicable Date.
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5. MATERIAL CHANGE

The Directors confirm that save as and except for the below, there was no material
change in the financial or trading position or outlook of the Group since 31 December
2015, being the date to which the latest published audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group were made up, up to and including the Latest Practicable Date:

(i) the Group recorded a decrease in (a) revenue and cost of sales for the six
months ended 30 June 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015,
which was mainly attributable to the decrease in sales volume and average
selling price of products as compared to the corresponding period of 2015 as a
result of persistent deterioration of market environment with the imbalance of
demand and supply, decrease in demand and fiercer competition; and (b)
gross profit and gross profit margin for the six months ended 30 June 2016 as
compared to the corresponding period in 2015, which was mainly due to the
fact that under the circumstances where the macro-economy is gloomy, the
demand in the specialized pipe industry was weak and the competition is
fierce, the decrease in market selling price to a greater extent than the decrease
in raw materials cost, the Group actively adjusted the product mix structure
and customer bases structure in order to cope with changes in market demand
and get rid of operating risks. The decrease in sales volume and gross profit
for the six months ended 30 June 2016 also caused the Group to record net loss
for the six months ended 30 June 2016 as compared to a net profit for the six
months ended 30 June 2015;

(ii) the Group recorded a decrease in other income and gains for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015, which
was mainly due to the decrease in investment income from (a) bank financial
products; and (b) foreign exchange forward contracts not qualifying as
hedges;

(iii) the Group recorded a decrease in administrative expenses for the six months
ended 30 June 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015, which
was mainly due to the fact that the Group reversed inventory provision as
well as continuously adopted measures to strengthen the controls over each
cost items;

(iv) the Group recorded an increase in (a) other expenses for the six months ended
30 June 2016 as compared to the corresponding period in 2015; and (b) other
payables and accruals as at 30 June 2016 as compared to that as at 31 December
2015, which were mainly due to the order-loss provision;

(v) as a result of the reversal of the deferred tax assets, (a) the Group record an
increase in income tax expenses for the six months ended 30 June 2016 as
compared to the corresponding period in 2015; and (b) the Group did not have
deferred tax assets as at 30 June 2016;
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(vi) the Group recorded an increase in inventories as at 30 June 2016 as compared
to that as at 31 December 2015, which was mainly due to the increase in
finished goods resulting from certain orders of products with relatively long
production cycle or certain finished goods not yet delivered pending to
customers’ settlement prior to delivery or the customers’ change in vessel
freight schedules;

(vii) the Group recorded an increase in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables as at 30 June 2016 as compared to that as at 31 December 2015,
which was mainly due to (a) the increase in settlement of payment for
purchase of raw materials by way of bank accepted bills which led to the
increase in pledged deposits; and (b) the increase in prepayments for the
purchase of raw materials;

(viii) the Group recorded a decrease in cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2016
as compared to that as at 31 December 2015, which was mainly due to (a) the
repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings during the six months
ended 30 June 2016, which also led the decrease in interest-bearing loans and
borrowings as at 30 June 2016 as compared to that as at 31 December 2015; (b)
the payment of interim special dividend in January 2016, which also led the
decrease in dividend payable as at 30 June 2016 as compared to that as at 31
December 2015; and

(ix) the Group recorded an increase in trade and notes payables as at 30 June 2016
as compared to that as at 31 December 2015, which was mainly due to the
increase in the issue of bank accepted bills as the result of the increase in the
purchase of raw materials during the six months ended 30 June 2016.

The changes of the items as set out above were shown under the preliminary interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2016 of the Company dated 29 July
2016 (the “2016 IR Announcement”). The above disclosure reflects the reasons for such
changes as disclosed under the 2016 IR Announcement and provides further elaboration
(as the case maybe).
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1. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS

The Directors jointly and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this circular (other than that in relation to the Offeror Group)
and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge,
their opinions expressed in this circular (other than those expressed by the Offeror Group)
have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no other facts not
contained in this circular the omission of which would make any statements in this
circular misleading.

The directors of the Offeror and the Offeror Parent Management members jointly
and severally accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in
this circular (other than that relating to the Group) and confirm, having made all
reasonable inquiries, that to the best of their knowledge, opinions expressed in this
document (other than those expressed by the Group, the Directors and Gram Capital) have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and there are no facts not contained in
this circular, the omission of which would make any statement in this circular misleading.

2. SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable
Date was as follows:

Domestic Shares

Authorised RMB

510,000,000 Shares 255,000,000

Issued

510,000,000 Shares 255,000,000

H Shares

Authorised RMB

497,626,000 Shares 248,813,000

Issued

497,626,000 Shares 248,813,000

Save for the 510,000,000 Domestic Shares and 497,626,000 H Shares in issue, the
Company did not have any outstanding options, warrants or derivatives or convertible
rights affecting the Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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All Shares in issue rank pari passu in all respects with each other including rights to
dividends, voting and return of capital. The Company has not issued any Shares since 31
December 2015, the date to which the latest published audited financial statements of the
Group were made up, up to the Latest Practicable Date.

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Interests of the Directors in the Shares

As at Latest Practicable Date, the interest of the directors, supervisors and
chief executive of the Group in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Group and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance) which will be required to be notified to the Group
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Domestic shares of RMB0.5 each of the Company

Name of Directors or
Supervisors Number of shares Nature of Interest notes

Percentage of
total number of
Shares in Issue

(%)

Ye Shi Qu 510,000,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation

(1) 50.61%

Ye Shi Qu 510,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(1) 50.61%

Ye Shi Qu 1,632,000,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation and
concert parties

(3) 161.97%

Zhang Hu Ming 1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (3) 161.97%
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H shares of RMB0.5 each of the Company

Name of Directors or
Supervisors Number of shares Nature of Interest notes

Percentage of
total number of
Shares in Issue

(%)

Ye Shi Qu 864,000,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation and
concert parties

(2), (3) 85.75%

29,719,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation

(4) 2.95%

Ye Shi Qu 20,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(2) 1.99%

Zhang Hu Ming 864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (3) 85.75%

(L) refers to the long position

(S) refers to the short position

Beneficial interest

Name of Company

Name of
Director or
Supervisor

Beneficial
Interest/ Total

amount of
Capital

Contribution Nature of Interest notes

Percentage
holding of

shares/interest
in registered
capital of the

relevant
associated

corporation
(%)

Tianda Holding Ye Shi Qu RMB198,985,900 Beneficial owner 85.14%

Tianda Investment Ye Shi Qu RMB50,000,000 Interest in controlled
corporation

(1), (2) 100%

Tiancheng
Changyun

Ye Shi Qu HK$46,681,980 Interest in controlled
corporation

(1), (2) 100%

Tianfa International Ye Shi Qu US$6,000,000 Interest in controlled
corporation

(4) 100%

Tianda Holding Zhang Hu Ming RMB9,166,700 Beneficial owner 3.92%
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Notes:

1. Ye Shi Qu holds 85.14% of the equity interest in Tianda Holding. Tianda Holding holds (i)
408,000,000 domestic shares of the Company with long position; (ii) 408,000,000 domestic
shares of the Company with short position; and (iii) 100% of the equity interest in Tianda
Investment.

Tianda Investment holds (i) 102,000,000 domestic shares with long position; and (ii)
102,000,000 domestic shares with short position in the Company. Accordingly, Ye Shi Qu is
deemed to be interested in all of (i) 510,000,000 domestic shares with long position; and (ii)
510,000,000 domestic shares with short position in the Company.

2. Ye Shi Qu holds 85.14% of the equity interest in Tianda Holding. Tianda Holding holds
95% of the equity interest in Anhui Tianda (Group) Co., Ltd, which in turn holds 100% of
the equity interest in Tiancheng Changyun, which in turn holds (i) 216,000,000 H shares
with long position; and (ii) 20,000,000 H shares with short position in the Company.
Accordingly, Ye Shi Qu is deemed to be interested in (i) 216,000,000 H shares with long
position; and (ii) 20,000,000 H shares with short position in the Company.

3. Vallourec & Mannesmann Tubes (“Vallourec Tubes”), Tianda Holding, Tianda Investment,
Tiancheng Changyun, Ye Shi Qu and Zhang Hu Ming entered into Shareholders
Agreement on 15 September 2010. Section 317 of the SFO shall apply to this agreement.
Vallourec Tubes, Tianda Holding, Tianda Investment, Tiancheng Changyun, Ye Shi Qu and
Zhang Hu Ming are concert parties with each other in relation to (i) 1,632,000,000 domestic
shares and (ii) 864,000,000 H shares jointly held by them.

4. Ye Shi Qu holds 85.14% of equity interest in Tianda Holding which holds 100% equity
interest in Tianda Investment. Tianda Investment holds 87% equity interest in 安徽天大企
業（集團）塑料複合製品有限公司 which further holds 100% of equity interest in Tianfa
International. Tianfa International holds 29,719,000 H Shares. Accordingly, Ye Shi Qu is
deemed to be interested in these additional 29,719,000 H Shares in the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors, the supervisors
and chief executives of the Group nor their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Group and any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Group
under section 352 of the SFO as at Latest Practicable Date.
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Substantial Shareholders and other persons’ interests and short positions in

shares and underlying shares of the Group

So far as the directors or chief executive of the Group are aware, as at the
Latest Practicable Date, the following persons had an interest or short position in
the shares and underlying shares of the Group which were recorded pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO in the register referred to therein:

Domestic shares of RMB0.5 each of the Company

Name of
Substantial
Shareholders Number of shares Nature of Interest notes

Percentage of
total number of

issued
domestic shares

Percentage of
total number of
Shares in Issue

(%) (%)

Tianda Holding 408,000,000 (S) Beneficial owner (1) 80% 40.49%

102,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(1) 20% 10.12%

1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 320% 161.97%

Tianda Investment 102,000,000 (S) Beneficial owner 20% 10.12%

1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 320% 161.97%

Tiancheng
Changyun

1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 320% 161.97%

Vallourec S.A. 1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 320% 161.97%

510,000,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation

(2) 100% 50.61%

Vallourec Tubes 1,632,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 320% 161.97%

510,000,000 (L) Beneficial owner 100% 50.61%

(L) refers to the long position

(S) refers to the short position
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H shares of RMB0.5 each of the Company

Name of
Substantial
Shareholders

Number of
Shares Nature of interest notes

Percentage of
total number of
issued H shares

Percentage of
total number of
Shares in Issue

(%) (%)

Tianda Holding 864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (3), (4) 173.62% 85.75%

20,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(3) 4.02% 1.99%

29,719,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation

(5) 5.97% 2.95%

Tiancheng
Changyun

864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 173.62% 85.75%

20,000,000 (S) Beneficial owner (3) 4.02% 1.99%

Tianda Investment 864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 173.62% 85.75%

29,719,000 (L) Interest in controlled
corporation

(5) 5.97% 2.95%

Vallourec S.A. 864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (4) 173.62% 85.75%

196,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(2) 39.39% 19.45%

Vallourec Tubes 864,000,000 (L) Concert parties (2), (4) 173.62% 85.75%

196,000,000 (S) Interest in controlled
corporation

(2) 39.39% 19.45%

Templeton Asset
Management,
Ltd.

59,662,597 (L) Investment Manager 11.99% 5.92%

JPMorgan Chase &
Co.

22,000 (L)
11,000 (S)

29,725,741 (L)

Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner
Custodian

corporation/
approval lending
agent

5.98% 2.95%

29,736,741 (L)
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(L) refers to the long position

(S) refers to the short position

Notes:

1. Tianda Holding holds (i) 408,000,000 domestic shares in the Company with short position;
and (ii) 100% of the equity interest in Tianda Investment. Tianda Investment holds
102,000,000 domestic shares in the Company with short position. Accordingly, Tianda
Holding is deemed to be aggregately interested in 510,000,000 domestic shares in the
Company with short position.

2. Vallourec S.A. holds 100% of the equity interest in Vallourec Tubes, which in turn is
interested in (i) 510,000,000 domestic shares with a long position; (ii) 864,000,000 H shares
with a long position; and (iii) 196,000,000 H shares with a short position in the Company.
Accordingly, Vallourec S.A. is deemed to be interested in (i) 510,000,000 domestic shares
with long position; (ii) 864,000,000 H shares with a long position; and (iii) 196,000,000 H
shares with a short position in the Company.

3. Tianda Holding holds 95% of the equity interest in Anhui Tianda (Group) Co., Ltd, which
in turn holds 100% of the equity interest in Tiancheng Changyun, which in turn holds (i)
216,000,000 H shares with long position; and (ii) 20,000,000 H shares with short position in
the Company. Accordingly, Tianda Holding is deemed to be interested in (i) 216,000,000 H
shares with long position; and (ii) 20,000,000 H shares with short position in the Company.

4. Vallourec Tubes, Tianda Holding, Tianda Investment, Tiancheng Changyun, Ye Shi Qu and
Zhang Hu Ming entered into Shareholders Agreement on 15 September 2010. Section 317
of the SFO shall apply to this agreement. Vallourec Tubes, Tianda Holding, Tianda
Investment, Tiancheng Changyun, Ye Shi Qu and Zhang Hu Ming are concert parties with
each other in respect of (i) 1,632,000,000 domestic shares and (ii) 864,000,000 H shares
jointly held by them.

5. Ye Shi Qu holds 85.14% of equity interest in Tianda Holding which holds 100% equity
interest in Tianda Investment. Tianda Investment holds 87% equity interest in 安徽天大企
業（集團）塑料複合製品有限公司 which further holds 100% of equity interest in Tianfa
International. Tianfa International holds 29,719,000 H Shares. Accordingly, Ye Shi Qu is
deemed to be interested in these additional 29,719,000 H Shares in the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the directors were not aware
of any persons or entities (other than the directors, supervisors and chief executive
of the Group) who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Group as recorded on 31 December 2015 in the register required to be
kept by the Group under section 336 of the SFO.
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4. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DEALINGS

As at the Latest Practicable Date:

(a) none of the Offeror Directors had any interests in any Shares, convertible
securities, warrants, options of the Company or any derivatives in respect of
such securities, or had dealt for value in any Shares, convertible securities,
warrants, options of the Company or any derivatives in respect of such
securities during the Relevant Period;

(b) save as disclosed in paragraph (g) of this section on page 112 of this circular,
and save for the proposed acquisition of the Sale Shares pursuant to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement by the Offeror, none of the Offeror, the Offeror
Parent or any persons acting in concert with any of them owned or controlled
any Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options of the Company or any
derivatives in respect of such securities or had dealt for value in any Shares,
convertible securities, warrants, options of the Company or any derivatives in
respect of such securities during the Relevant Period;

(c) the Offeror had no intention to transfer, charge or pledge the H Shares
acquired in pursuance with the Offer to any other persons;

(d) neither the Offeror nor parties acting in concert with it has received any
irrevocable commitment to accept or reject the Offer;

(e) save for the acquisition of the Sale Shares pursuant to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement by the Offeror and the Shareholders’ Agreement, none of the
Offeror, the Offeror Parent or any persons acting in concert with either of
them, is party to any arrangement (whether by way of option, indemnity or
otherwise) of any kind referred to in Note 8 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code
with any other persons in relation to the Shares;

(f) save as disclosed in the section headed “Disclosure of Interests — Interests of
the Directors in the Shares” in this Appendix IV on pages 105 to 107 of this
circular, and in the section headed “Disclosure of Interests — Substantial
Shareholders and other persons’ interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares of the Group” in this Appendix IV on pages 108 to 110 of
this circular, none of the parties to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the
Shareholders’ Agreement (other than the Offeror) have any interests in the
Company;
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(g) Interests of the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it in the Shares

As at the Latest Practicable Date, details of interests in the Shares, underlying
Shares, debentures or other relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to
Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) of the Company held or controlled by the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it were as follows:

Name of Offeror/
parties acting in
concert with it Capacity Shares

Number of
Shares held

Approximate
% of interest

The Offeror Owner H Shares 196,000,000 19.45%

The Offeror Parent Beneficial
Owner

H Shares 196,000,000 19.45%

Notes:

1. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror held or controlled approximately 19.45% of
the total issued share capital of the Company (comprising Domestic Shares and H Shares).

2. The Offeror is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Offeror Parent. As such, the Offeror
Parent is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which the Offeror is interested by
virtue of the SFO.

3. The Offeror is party to the Shareholders’ Agreement. Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Shareholders’ Agreement will be terminated on the closing date of the Sale
and Purchase Agreement.

4. The Offeror is a party to the Sale and Purchase Agreement. Pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement, the Offeror has conditionally agreed to purchase the Sale Shares
from the Vendors.

Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Offeror,
the Offeror Parent and parties acting in concert with them had any interest in
the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers
Code) of the Company.

Except in connection with the Sale and Purchase Agreement, no person whose
dealing would be required to be disclosed under this paragraph has dealt in
the Company in the Relevant Period;

(h) none of the Offeror, the Offeror Parent or any persons acting in concert with
either of them, had borrowed or lent any Shares or any relevant securities (as
defined in Note 4 to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code) in the Company during
the Relevant Period;

(i) save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Shareholders Agreement,
no agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any compensation
arrangement) exists between the Offeror, the Offeror Parent or any persons
acting in concert with any of them and any Directors, recent Directors,
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Shareholders or recent Shareholders having any connection with or
dependence upon the Offer;

(j) there is no agreement or arrangement to which the Offeror is a party which
relates to circumstances in which the Offeror may or may not seek to invoke a
pre-condition or a condition to the Offer;

(k) the Company did not have any beneficial interest in the shares, convertible
securities, warrants, options of the Offeror or any derivatives in respect of
such securities, and the Company had not dealt for value in any shares,
convertible securities, warrants or options of the Offeror or any derivatives in
respect of such securities during the Relevant Period;

(l) save as disclosed in the section headed “Disclosure of Interests — Interests of
the Directors in the Shares” in this Appendix IV on pages 105 to 107 of this
circular, and save for the proposed sale of the Sale Shares pursuant to the Sale
and Purchase Agreement by Mr Ye Shi Qu, Mr Zhang Hu Ming and Mr Yong
Jin Gui (each as beneficial owners of Shares through their interests in the
Vendors), none of the Directors had any interests in any shares, convertible
securities, warrants, options of the Offeror or the Company or any derivatives
in respect of such securities, and none of the Directors had dealt for value in
any shares, convertible securities, warrants, options of the Offeror or the
Company or any derivatives in respect of such securities during the Relevant
Period; each of Mr Ye Shi Qu, Mr Zhang Hu Ming and Mr Yong Jin Gui has
indicated his intention to accept the Offer in respect of the securities in which
he had interests as disclosed in the section headed “Disclosure of Interests —
Interests of the Directors in the Shares” in this Appendix IV on pages 105 to
107 of this circular;

(m) none of (i) the subsidiaries of the Company; (ii) the pension fund of the
Company or of a subsidiary of the Company; or (iii) any advisers to the
Company (as specified in class (2) of the definition of “associate” under the
Takeovers Code) had any interests in the Shares, convertible securities,
warrants, options of the Company or any derivatives in respect of such
securities, and none of them had dealt in any Shares, convertible securities,
warrants, options of the Company or any derivatives in respect of such
securities during the period from and including 2 February 2016, being the
date of the Joint Announcement, up to and including the Latest Practicable
Date;

(n) save for the parties to the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Shareholders’
Agreement, no person had any arrangement of the kind referred to in Note 8
to Rule 22 of the Takeovers Code, the Company or with any person who is an
associate of the Company by virtue of classes (1), (2), (3) and (4) of the
definition of “associate” under the Takeovers Code during the period from
and including 2 February 2016, being the date of the Joint Announcement, up
to and including the Latest Practicable Date;
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(o) no Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options of the Company or any
derivatives in respect of such securities were managed on a discretionary
basis by any fund managers (other than exempt fund managers) connected
with the Company during the period from and including 2 February 2016,
being the date of the Joint Announcement, up to and including the Latest
Practicable Date;

(p) no Shares, convertible securities, warrants, options of the Company or any
derivatives in respect of such securities had been borrowed or lent by any of
the Directors or by the Company;

(q) no benefit was or will be given to any Director as compensation for loss of
office in any members of the Group or otherwise in connection with the Offer;

(r) there was no agreement or arrangement between any Director and any other
person which is conditional on or dependent upon the outcome of the Offer or
otherwise connected with the Offer; and

(s) save for the Sale and Purchase Agreement and the Shareholders’ Agreement,
there was no material contract entered into by the Offeror in which any
Director has a material personal interest.

5. MARKET PRICES

The table below sets out the closing prices of the H Shares on the Stock Exchange on:
(i) the Latest Practicable Date; (ii) the Last Trading Day; and (iii) the last Business Day of
each of the calendar months during the Relevant Period.

Closing Price
(HK$)

7 September 2016 (being the Latest Practicable Date) 1.83
31 August 2016 1.84
29 July 2016 1.67
30 June 2016 1.65
31 May 2016 1.65
29 April 2016 1.71
31 March 2016 1.74
29 February 2016 1.77
29 January 2016 (being the Last Trading Day) 1.05
31 December 2015 1.1400
30 November 2015 1.2800A
30 October 2015 1.2620A
30 September 2015 1.2450A
31 August 2015 1.1910A
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During the Relevant Period, the highest closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange
was HK$1.86 per H Share on 18 August 2016 and the lowest closing price quoted on the
Stock Exchange was HK$1.02 per H Share on 26 January 2016.

6. LITIGATION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no member of the Group was engaged in any
litigation or claims of material importance and no litigation or claims of material
importance was known to the Directors to be pending or threatened by or against any
member of the Group.

7. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, no contract (not being contracts entered into in the
ordinary course of business carried on or intended to be carried on by the Group) had been
entered into by any member of the Group within the two years before the commencement
of the Offer Period and ending on the Latest Practicable Date.

8. EXPERTS AND CONSENTS

The following are the qualifications of the experts contained in this circular:

Name Qualification

Gram Capital
Limited

A licensed corporation under the SFO licensed to conduct
Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity
under the SFO

Gram Capital has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of
this circular with the inclusion of the text of its letter and the references to its name in the
form and context in which they appear herein.

9. DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had entered into any service
contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies which (i)
(including both continuous and fixed-term contracts) have been entered into or amended
within 6 months preceding the commencement of the Offer Period; (ii) are continuous
contracts with a notice period of 12 months or more; or (iii) are fixed-term contracts with
more than 12 months to run irrespective of the notice period.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contact or has an unexpired
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

10. MISCELLANEOUS

(a) The registered office of the Company is situated at Zhenxing Road, Tongcheng
Town, Tianchang City, Anhui Province, the PRC and its principal office in
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Hong Kong is located at Unit 406B, 4/F Mirror Tower, 61 Mody Road, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

(b) Set out below are details of the Offeror, the Offeror Parent, the Offeror
Directors and the Offeror Parent Management Members:

(i) the Offeror

Registered Address The Offeror Directors

27 avenue du Général Leclerc,
92100 Boulogne-Billancourt,
France

Mr Philippe Jacques Georges
Crouzet

Mr Oliver Bruno Benedict Mallet

Mr Jean-Pierre Michel

(ii) Offeror Parent

Registered Address The Offeror Parent Management
members

27 avenue du Général
Leclerc, 92100
Boulogne-Billancourt,
France

Mr Philippe Jacques Georges Crouzet

Mr Oliver Bruno Benedict Mallet

Mr Jean-Pierre Michel

(c) The Registrar and transfer agent of the Company in Hong Kong is
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, with its registered
address at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(d) The Hong Kong office of Anglo Chinese is situated at 40th Floor, Two
Exchange Square, 8 Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong.

(e) The English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text in case of
inconsistency.

11. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection (i) on the website of
the Company (http://www.tiandapipe.com); (ii) on the website of the SFC (www.sfc.hk);
and (iii) at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 406B, 4/F Mirror
Tower, 61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong during normal business hours
from the date of this circular up to and including the closing date of the Offer:

(a) the articles of association of the Company;
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(b) the memorandum and articles of association (statuts) of the Offeror;

(c) the annual reports of the Company for the two years ended 31 December 2014
and 31 December 2015, respectively;

(d) the preliminary interim results announcement for the six months ended 30
June 2016 of the Company dated 29 July 2016;

(e) the letter from the Board, the text of which is set out on pages 7 to 21 of this
circular;

(f) the letter from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent
Shareholders and the Independent H Shareholders, the text of which is set out
on page 22 of this circular;

(g) the letter from Gram Capital to the Independent Board Committee, the text of
which is set out on pages 23 to 40 of this circular;

(h) the written consent(s) referred to under the paragraph headed “Experts and
Consents” in this Appendix IV; and

(i) this circular.
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Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited
安徽天大石油管材股份有限公司

(a joint stock company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 839)

NOTICE OF THE SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Special General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of
Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Zhenxing Road,
Tongcheng Town, Tianchang City, Anhui Province, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) on 7 October 2016 at 2:00 p.m. (or at any adjournment thereof) to consider and, if
thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

“THAT:

(a) the Company’s special dividend distribution plan, namely, the proposed
distribution of a special dividend of RMB0.301459 per share (inclusive of tax)
of the Company and RMB303,758,000 in aggregate (inclusive of tax) for the 12
months ended 31 December 2015, be and is hereby approved; and the board of
directors of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take all necessary
actions for the implementation of such plan in accordance with relevant
applicable laws and regulations;”

“THAT:

(b) Mr. Bogdan Codrut Burchil be appointed as the chairman and executive
director of the Company with effect from the closing date for the Offer (as
defined in the circular of the Company dated 10 September 2016 (the
“Circular”));

(c) Mr. Pascal Gustave Ulysse Braquehais be appointed as the non-executive
director of the Company and the member of the audit committee,
remuneration committee, and nomination committee of the Company with
effect from the closing date for the Offer (as defined in the Circular);

(d) Mr. Edouard Frederic Guinotte be appointed as the non-executive director of
the Company with effect from the closing date for the Offer (as defined in the
Circular);

(e) Mr. Jean-Pierre Michel as the Company’s supervisor with effect from the
closing date for the Offer (as defined in the Circular);
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SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

“THAT:

(f) the proposed amendments to the articles of association (the ”Articles”) of the
Company (details of which are set out in the appendix to the Circular) be and
are hereby considered and approved, and will become legal and effective
subject to registration and filing with the relevant governmental or regulatory
authorities;

(g) any one director or secretary to the board of directors of the Company be and
is hereby authorised to deal with on behalf of the Company the relevant filing,
amendments and registration (where necessary) procedures and other related
issues arising from the amendments to the Articles;”

“THAT:

(h) the voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited, be and is hereby approved;

(i) any director of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such other
action and execute such documents or deeds as he may consider necessary or
desirable for the purpose of implementing the voluntary withdrawal,

subject to (i) the Effective Transfer Date taking place; (ii) the unconditional
mandatory cash offer being made by Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited, for
and on behalf of Vallourec Tubes SAS, for the H Shares (other than those H Shares
already owned by or agreed to be acquired by Vallourec Tubes SAS, and parties
acting in concert with it at the time when the offer is made) at a price of either
HK$1.66 per H Share (if this resolution and the equivalent resolution at the H Share
class meeting are not approved) or HK$1.67 per H Share (if both such resolutions are
approved) (the “Offer”); and (iii) the offer period ending in respect of the Offer.”

On behalf of the Board
Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited

Ye Shi Qu
Chairman

Anhui, the PRC

10 September 2016
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Notes:

1. A member of the Company (“Member”) entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint
a proxy or proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a Member. A form of proxy for use
at the Meeting is enclosed herewith. In the case of the joint holders of any Share, only the person whose
name appears first in the register of members shall be entitled to receive this notice, to attend and
exercise all the voting powers attached to such Share at the Meeting, and this notice shall be deemed to be
given to all joint holders of such Share.

2. For the purpose of ascertaining Member ’s right to attend and vote at the Meeting of the Company, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 27 September 2016 to 7 October 2016, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a Member to be eligible
to attend and vote at the Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the Company’s transfer office and
share registrar in Hong Kong, whose address is Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 26 September 2016.

3. For the purpose of ascertaining Member ’s entitlement to the proposed interim special dividend, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 14 October 2016 to 18 October 2016, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
interim special dividend (subject to Member ’s approval at the Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong, whose address is Shops 1712–1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13
October 2016.

4. Whether or not the H Shareholders of the Company who intend to attend the Meeting shall complete the
enclosed reply slip for the Meeting and return it, by hand or by post, to the Company’s H Share registrar
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or by fax on or before 1 October 2016.

5. Whether or not the holders of domestic shares of the Company who intend to attend the Meeting shall
complete the enclosed reply slip for the Meeting and return it, by hand or by post, to the Company’s
mailing address at Zhenxing Road, Tongcheng Town, Tianchang City, Anhui Province, the PRC, or by fax
on or before 1 October 2016.

6. As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises three executive Directors: Mr. Ye Shiqu, Mr. Zhang Hu
Ming and Ms. Fu Jun; two non-executive Directors: Mr. Liu Peng and Mr. Bruno Saintes; and three
independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Zhao Bin, Mr. Wang Bo and Mr. Wang Jie.

APPENDIX V NOTICE OF SGM

– 120 –



Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited
安徽天大石油管材股份有限公司

(a joint stock company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 839)

NOTICE OF THE H SHARE CLASS MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a class meeting of the holders of H Shares (the “H
Share Class Meeting”) of Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited (the “Company”) will
be held at Zhenxing Road, Tongcheng Town, Tianchang City, Anhui Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 7 October 2016 (or at any adjournment thereof)
immediately after the conclusion of the special general meeting of the Company to be held
on the same date to consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions:

SPECIAL RESOLUTION

“THAT:

(a) the voluntary withdrawal of the listing of the H Shares from The Hong Kong
Stock Exchange Limited, be and is hereby approved;

(b) any director of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such other
action and execute such documents or deeds as he may consider necessary or
desirable for the purpose of implementing the voluntary withdrawal,

subject to (i) the Effective Transfer Date taking place; (ii) the unconditional
mandatory cash offer being made by Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance, Limited, for
and on behalf of Vallourec Tubes SAS, for the H Shares (other than those H Shares
already owned by or agreed to be acquired by Vallourec Tubes SAS, and parties
acting in concert with it at the time when the offer is made) at a price of either
HK$1.66 per H Share (if this resolution and the equivalent resolution of the special
general meeting are not approved) or HK$1.67 per H Share (if both such resolutions
are approved) (the “Offer”); and (iii) the offer period ending in respect of the Offer.”

On behalf of the Board
Anhui Tianda Oil Pipe Company Limited

Ye Shi Qu
Chairman

Anhui, the PRC

10 September 2016
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Notes:

1. A holder of H Shares of the Company (“Member”) entitled to attend and vote at the H Share Class
Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a
Member. A form of proxy for use at the H Share Class Meeting is enclosed herewith. In the case of the joint
holders of any Share, only the person whose name appears first in the register of members shall be
entitled to receive this notice, to attend and exercise all the voting powers attached to such Share at the H
Share Class Meeting, and this notice shall be deemed to be given to all joint holders of such Share.

2. For the purpose of ascertaining Member ’s right to attend and vote at the H Share Class Meeting of the
Company, the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 27 September 2016 to 7 October
2016, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order for a
Member to be eligible to attend and vote at the H Share Class Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the
Company’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong, whose address is Shops 1712–1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 26
September 2016.

3. Whether or not the Members of the Company who intend to attend the H Share Class Meeting shall
complete the enclosed reply slip for the H Share Class Meeting and return it, by hand or by post, to the
Company’s H Share registrar Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or by fax on or before 1 October 2016.

4. Completion and return of the proxy forms and notices of attendance will not preclude a Member from
attending and voting in the H Share Class Meeting if such Member has notified the Company not less
than 24 hours in writing before the time scheduled for holding the H Share Class Meeting.

5. A Member or his/her/its proxy shall produce proof of identity when attending the H Share Class
Meeting. If a corporate shareholder appoints its legal representative to attend the meeting, such legal
representative shall produce proof of identity and a copy of the resolution of the board of directors or
other governing body of such shareholder appointing such legal representative to attend the meeting.

6. In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, where there are joint registered holders of
any share, only the first named shareholder in the register of members has the right to receive this notice,
attend the H Share Class Meeting and exercise the voting rights in relation to the relevant shares in the H
Share Class Meeting.

7. The H Share Class Meeting is expected to last for about 30 minutes. Members of the Company and their
respective proxies attending the H Share Class Meeting shall be responsible for their own transportation
and accommodation expenses.

8. As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises three executive Directors: Mr. Ye Shiqu, Mr. Zhang Hu
Ming and Ms. Fu Jun; two non-executive Directors: Mr. Liu Peng and Mr. Bruno Saintes; and three
independent non-executive Directors: Mr. Zhao Bin, Mr. Wang Bo and Mr. Wang Jie.

APPENDIX VI NOTICE OF THE H SHARE CLASS MEETING

– 122 –



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (Japan Color 2001 Coated)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness false
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
    /CFangSong-Light
    /CGuLi-Bold
    /CGuYin-Bold
    /CHei2-Bold
    /CHei2-Xbold
    /CHei3-Bold
    /CHei-UltraBold
    /CJNgai-Bold
    /CKan-Xbold
    /CNganKai-Bold
    /CO2Yuen-XboldOutline
    /COYuen-Xbold
    /COYuen-XboldOutline
    /CPo3-Bold
    /CPo-Bold
    /CSong3-Medium
    /CSu-Medium
    /CXingKai-Bold
    /CXing-Medium
    /CXLi-Medium
    /CYuen-SemiMedium
    /MBei-Bold
    /MHei-Bold
    /MHei-Light
    /MHei-Medium
    /MHei-Xbold
    /MKai-Medium
    /MKai-SemiBold
    /MLi-Bold
    /MNgai-Bold
    /MSung-Light
    /MSung-Medium
    /MSung-Xbold
    /MYuen-Light
    /MYuen-Medium
    /MYuen-Xbold
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages false
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 200
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages false
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 200
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages false
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<
    /CHT <>
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /BleedOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToRGB
      /DestinationProfileName (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles true
      /MarksOffset 0
      /MarksWeight 0.283460
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /NA
      /PageMarksFile /JapaneseWithCircle
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
    <<
      /AllowImageBreaks true
      /AllowTableBreaks true
      /ExpandPage false
      /HonorBaseURL true
      /HonorRolloverEffect false
      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false
      /IncludeHeaderFooter false
      /MarginOffset [
        0
        0
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetadataAuthor ()
      /MetadataKeywords ()
      /MetadataSubject ()
      /MetadataTitle ()
      /MetricPageSize [
        0
        0
      ]
      /MetricUnit /inch
      /MobileCompatible 0
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (GoLive)
        (8.0)
      ]
      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false
      /PageOrientation /Portrait
      /RemoveBackground false
      /ShrinkContent true
      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors
      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false
      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


